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Enclosed is the Pakakohi and Tangahoe Settlement Claims Report, prepared on an urgent

basis following a hearing in Wellington on 1, 2, and 3 November 2000.

The claimants are Rita Bublitz, Aroha Houston, and Waveney Stephens for and on behalf of

Te Iwi o Tangahoe Incorporated and Huia Rei Hayes for and on behalf of herself and Te

Runanganui o Te Pakakohi Trust Incorporated. The claims related to a decision by the Crown

to accept the mandate of the Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu Working Party to settle all

the historical claims of Ngati Ruanui, including those of Pakakohi and Tangahoe. The

claimants argued that they should have been given an opportunity to negotiate and settle

their own claims with the Crown in their own right.

We were mindful of the nature of the dispute which gives rise to this claim and the need to

tread carefully in matters relating to mandate in Treaty claims. But we were also mindful of

the unparalleled importance of this matter to the future of Ngati Ruanui, Pakakohi, and

Tangahoe. With this in mind, we developed four questions to assist in answering the issues

raised by these claims. The questions and our answers to them are set out below:

1. Does tikanga or early colonial history (or both) recognise Pakakohi or Tangahoe (or

both) as a cultural and political entity distinct from Ngati Ruanui?

We answered this question in the affirmative for both claimant groups.

2. Do Pakakohi or Tangahoe (or both) have claims which are distinct from those of Ngati

Ruanui?

We considered that Tangahoe did not have claims which were distinct from those of

Ngati Ruanui, but that Pakakohi’s claims were distinctive.



3. Is there sufficient evidence of support for a separate settlement in favour of Pakakohi

Inc (the Pakakohi claimants) or Tangahoe Inc (the Tangahoe claimants) (or both) to

warrant the Tribunal taking a hard look at the Crown’s handling of the Ngati Ruanui

working party mandating process?

After carefully assessing this matter, we concluded that the evidence was insufficient

to warrant the Tribunal taking a ‘hard look’ in respect of either claimant group.

4. If there is sufficient evidence to warrant a ‘hard look’ at the matter, were there flaws

in the Crown’s handling of that matter of sufficient severity to warrant the Tribunal

considering that the Crown’s acceptance of the working party’s mandate to settle on

behalf of Pakakohi or Tangahoe or both is unsafe?

As a result of our answer to question 3, it became unnecessary to consider question

4.

In the result, having heard the evidence and arguments for all parties, we were not

prepared to recommend a halt to the Ngati Ruanui settlement. Nor were we prepared to

recommend that the approach to settlement adopted by the Crown and the working party

should be changed. We do, however, express in strong terms our hope that the discussions

which commenced between the claimants, the working party, and the Crown during the

course of the earlier Tribunal-facilitated mediation process should be continued. We take this

view because we believe it is important to ensure that the integrity of the Pakakohi and

Tangahoe tradition within Ngati Ruanui is maintained in the settlement between the

working party and the Crown. Our reasons for reaching this conclusion are set out more

fully in the last section of our report.

Heoi ano e nga rangatira, koianei nga whakaaro ka pupuu ake i te hinengaro o te Roopu

Whakamana i te Tiriti o Waitangi hei taataringa, hei waananga ma korua.

Naku noa

na Joe Williams

Chief Judge

Deputy Chairperson



1. THE PARTIES AND THE PATH TO THE URGENT
HEARING OF THE CLAIMS

1.1 Introduction

On 20 April 1998, Cabinet accepted the mandate of the Ngati Ruanui

Muru me te Raupatu Working Party (the working party) to settle the his-

torical claims of Ngati Ruanui. The working party represented and the

Crown accepted that Ngati Ruanui include for the purposes of the settle-

ment the traditional kin groups known as Tangahoe and Pakakohi. On 7

September 1999, the Crown and the working party entered into a heads of

agreement on that basis. Within the next few weeks, the parties intend to

initial a ånal deed of settlement giving eäect to agreements in the heads of

agreement. The two claims the subject of this report relate to the Crown’s

decision to accept the mandate of Ngati Ruanui to settle the claims of

Pakakohi and Tangahoe. The claims are all located in south Taranaki in

the vicinity of Hawera and Patea.

1.2 The Claimants

The claims were made by:

. Rita Bublitz, Aroha Houston, and Waveney Stephens for and on be-

half of Te Iwi o Tangahoe Incorporated; and

. Huia Rei Hayes for and on behalf of herself and Te Runanganui o Te

Pakakohi Trust Incorporated.

The first of those claims was in fact filed with the Tribunal in mid-1990

and was allocated the Tribunal’s claim number Wai 142. It was originally

one of 21 claims that were the subject of the Tribunal’s interim Taranaki

Report: Kaupapa Tuatahi, issued in mid-1996 after five years of Tribunal

hearings. In the decade since 1990, the Wai 142 claimants have amended

their statement of claim several times. The most recent amendment, made

on 18 April 2000, raised issues that are the subject of this report.

The second of the claims was filed with the Tribunal in November 1998

and was allocated the Tribunal’s claim number Wai 758. Although it

post-dates the Taranaki Report, there is a close relationship between this

claim and one made in 1989 by Piki Parker for Te Pakakohi (Wai 99). The

[1]



Wai 99 claim was also one of the 21 claims that were the subject of the Tri-

bunal’s interim Taranaki Report.

It will be seen that these claims reëect a signiåcant diäerence of opin-

ion between the two claimant groups on the one hand, and the Crown and

the working party on the other, as to who (or what modern legal entity)

represents the traditional kin groups known as Pakakohi and Tangahoe.

This raises a signiåcant matter of terminology. It is necessary to distin-

guish between the claimant groups represented at the urgent hearing of

their claims and the hapu groupings traditionally known as Tangahoe and

Pakakohi. The terminology we have adopted is this. When we refer speciå-

cally to one or both of the claimant groups, we use phrases such as ‘the

Tangahoe claimants’ and ‘the Pakakohi claimants’ or ‘Tangahoe Inc’ and

‘Pakakohi Inc’ – which highlight the groups’ modern day structures and

membership. By contrast, when we are referring to the traditional groups

of hapu, we simply use the names Tangahoe and Pakakohi. It is essential to

keep these distinctions in mind.

1.3 The Crown and the Working Party

The Crown decisions that are the subject of the present claims have been

made by Cabinet on the advice of Cabinet Strategy (now Policy) Commit-

tee and, more particularly, the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi

Negotiations. The Minister, in turn, is advised by the Oïce of Treaty Set-

tlements (ots). That oïce obtains input to its policy advice, and to its de-

velopment of processes to implement Crown policy, from other Crown

agencies (most notably Te Puni Kokiri (tpk) – the Ministry of Maori De-

velopment) as well as from Maori communities.

The Crown’s decision to recognise the working party as having the

mandate to settle the historical claims of Ngati Ruanui including

Pakakohi and Tangahoe was made after lengthy consideration of the is-

sues and risks involved. The nature of those issues and risks emerged dur-

ing the five years of the Waitangi Tribunal’s hearing of the Taranaki

raupatu claims. In those proceedings, the arguments and evidence pre-

sented by the Pakakohi and Tangahoe claimants made it plain that they

would very likely oppose later claims by an entity such as the working

party to represent their interests. Further, in the interim Taranaki Report,

the Tribunal stated its view that, in addition to the eight hapu aggregations

[2]
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(including Ngati Ruanui) which are represented on the Taranaki Maori

Trust Board, Pakakohi and Tangahoe are ‘distinctive and viable entities de-

serving separate consideration’.1 The Crown had ample warning, there-

fore, when it publicised its intention to settle the Taranaki raupatu claims

that the Pakakohi and Tangahoe claimant groups would very likely peti-

tion it to enter settlement negotiations with each of them, separate from

any that might be conducted with Ngati Ruanui.

Inëuential in the Crown’s 1998 decision to recognise the mandate of

the working party was the evidence presented to it by the working party it-

self about the basis and strength of its authority to represent Pakakohi and

Tangahoe. Yet the Crown did not merely recognise that the working party

as it was originally composed could properly represent Pakakohi and

Tangahoe. Instead, it recognised the working party’s mandate only on con-

dition that there be introduced onto the working party an additional

place for a further representative of Ngatiki Marae, which is closely aïli-

ated to Tangahoe, and that the two places reserved for Te Takere Marae

(known to the Pakakohi claimants as Manutahi, and hereafter referred to

as such in this report), which is closely aïliated to Pakakohi, be kept

available.

Once the working party’s mandate was recognised on those conditions

– and even though the conditional places were not taken up – the Crown’s

assessment of the mandate situation inevitably became highly dependent

on the working party’s own assessment of it. With the Crown’s mandate

conditions fulålled by keeping available the places on the working party,

and the working party’s årm view that opposition to its mandate came

only from dissenting groups within Pakakohi and Tangahoe, it remained

conådent of its authority to negotiate the settlement of the historical

claims of Ngati Ruanui including Pakakohi and Tangahoe. As the negotia-

tions progressed, and the working party kept the Crown informed about

its eäorts to alleviate the mandate problems, the views of the Crown and

the working party on the mandate issue, at least in the eyes of the claimant

groups, became very closely merged.

In the result, while the Crown is the party against whom the present

claims are made (and must be in Tribunal proceedings), many of the

claimants’ allegations are equally targeted at the views and conduct of the

working party. Accordingly, while Crown counsel represented the Crown

to oppose the claims at the Tribunal’s urgent hearing, the working party

[3]
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also sought and obtained leave to be represented in the proceedings, and

its counsel made submissions in support of the Crown’s position.

1.4 Background to the Urgent Hearing of the Claims

It was as recently as 25 October 2000 that the Waitangi Tribunal granted

an urgent hearing to the claims. The hearing then took place on 1, 2, and 3

November 2000. The speed with which the Tribunal proceeded to hear

the claims reveals that the claimants and the Crown were prepared for that

event – even if they did not welcome it.

The parties’ preparedness for hearing reëects the fact that the issues

raised by the claims have been pursued, and sought to be resolved, over a

lengthy period of time. In the remainder of this chapter, we provide an out-

line of the events which, with the beneåt of hindsight, can be seen to have

been milestones along the present claims’ path to their urgent hearing.

The purpose of this outline is to alert readers very quickly to the recent his-

tory of the claims. Accordingly, the more signiåcant of the matters men-

tioned here are explored in greater detail in later chapters.

1.5 The Taranaki Report

As has been noted, the Taranaki raupatu claims – including those of Ngati

Ruanui, Tangahoe, and Pakakohi – were reported on by the Waitangi Tri-

bunal in an interim report released in June 1996. It was because of the Tara-

naki Report’s interim nature that the Tribunal recorded, in the preface,

that leave was reserved to all parties to seek further hearing of their claims

if the proposed settlement negotiations were unsuccessful or would bene-

åt from further consideration of particular matters.2 The present urgent

hearing of the Wai 758 and Wai 142 claims has its origins in that

reservation.

With a view to claim settlement, the Taranaki Tribunal noted that eight

hapu aggregations are represented on the Taranaki Maori Trust Board,

and that two others – Pakakohi and Tangahoe – had also demonstrated

that ‘they exist today as distinctive and viable entities deserving separate

consideration’.3 The Tribunal clearly hoped that the matter of settlement

apportionment among the 10 groups could be agreed without its further

[4]
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input. With regard to the southern region, however, the Tribunal stated its

view that Pakakohi and Tangahoe seemed not to be entitled to share

equally with Nga Ruahine, Ngati Ruanui, and Nga Rauru, with whom they

variously overlapped.4 We reproduce here figure 4 from the Taranaki Re-

port, which was presented to that Tribunal as depicting the locations of the

various tribal groupings as seen by those groups at that time. However, the

reproduction of this map in the present report should not be taken to

mean that we accept or confirm the accuracy of the boundaries depicted

therein. We will return to the Taranaki Report in more detail in the follow-

ing chapter.

1.6 The Crown’s Recognition of the Working Party’s Deed of

Mandate

In July 1997, as part of the claims settlement process, the working party

submitted its deed of mandate to the Crown for recognition so that negoti-

ations between the parties could commence. In the written submissions

process that followed, 11 submissions were received opposing the working

party’s mandate – three from the Pakakohi claimants and eight from the

Tangahoe claimants.

In April 1998, after analysing the situation and imposing conditions to

promote better representation of Pakakohi and Tangahoe, the Crown re-

cognised the working party’s deed of mandate to represent Ngati Ruanui,

including Pakakohi and Tangahoe, in the negotiations for the settlement

of their historical grievances. The Minister in Charge of Treaty of

Waitangi Negotiations subsequently informed the claimant groups that

the Crown would not enter into separate negotiations with them. In

August 1998, the Crown and the working party signed the terms of their

negotiations.

1.7 The First Application for an Urgent Tribunal Hearing

The Wai 758 claim, åled on 3 November 1998 by Huia Rei Hayes, chal-

lenged two matters:

. the Crown’s recognition of the working party’s deed of mandate;

and

[5]
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. the Crown’s decision not to enter into separate negotiations with

Pakakohi.5

The claimants requested an urgent hearing of the claim by the Tribunal

and åled an aïdavit by Piki Parker in support of the request.6

1.8 The Crown’s Opposition

On 25 February 1999, Crown counsel åled submissions opposing the

Pakakohi claimants’ request for urgency and aïrming the Crown’s views

that the working party could represent Pakakohi (and Tangahoe) in the

settlement negotiations. Emphasis was placed upon the careful steps that

had been taken by the Crown before recognising the working party’s man-

date. These included the public submissions process and two analyses of

the situation by tpk and ots.

Crown counsel explained that the opposition to the working party’s

mandate caused Cabinet approval to be given only on the basis that addi-

tional provision be made for Tangahoe representation (through an extra

place on the working party for Ngatiki Marae) and that continued provi-

sion be made for Pakakohi through the representatives of Manutahi Ma-

rae. Cabinet hoped, however, that its recognition of the working party’s

deed of mandate would ‘send a clear signal to those individuals who iden-

tify exclusively as Tangahoe and Pakakohi that the Crown intends to ad-

dress their claims under a Ngati Ruanui umbrella’.7

1.9 The Claimants’ Response

At that stage, at the request of counsel for the Wai 758 claimants, a confer-

ence to consider the application for urgency was adjourned several times.

In March 1999, claimant counsel advised the Tribunal that ‘signiåcant de-

velopments’ had occurred which might ‘obviate the need for urgency’.8

Nothing came of discussions between the parties, however, and on 21

April 1999 counsel åled a substantive reply to the Crown’s submissions.

Claimant counsel asserted in that reply that, in May 1998, Pakakohi Inc

had been oäered a place on the working party but, having now decided to

take it up, the claimant group had been informed that the oäer had been

withdrawn. The current representation of the Pakakohi claimants on the

[6]
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working party was objected to, as was the fact that tpk and ots had

formed their views on the working party’s deed of mandate without con-

sulting the claimants. Counsel concluded that Pakakohi were in danger of

either being ‘swamped by Ngati Ruanui’ or being ‘shut out’ of the negotia-

tion process entirely.9

1.10 The Tribunal’s First Decision on Urgency

After a judicial conference on 21 April 1999, the Tribunal declined the ap-

plication for an urgent hearing. The presiding oïcer, Deputy Chief Judge

Norman Smith, did not accept that a refusal to grant urgency would lead

to irreparable loss to the claimants – which is one of the criteria the Tribu-

nal has regard to in deciding urgency applications. The judge reasoned

that the measure of Pakakohi’s loss would not be known until the negotia-

tions were concluded and, at that point, there were still safeguards that the

claimants could rely on, both in the settlement ratiåcation process and in

the Tribunal’s reservation of leave to seek a further hearing.10

1.11 The Second Application for Urgency

On 7 September 1999, the Crown and the working party signed a heads of

agreement which stated that the parties would settle the Wai 99 Pakakohi

raupatu claim. Piki Parker then åled her second aïdavit with the Tribu-

nal, dated 26 October 1999, asserting that Pakakohi would suäer signiå-

cant prejudice if the heads of agreement became binding. For example,

she asserted, land returns in the Pakakohi rohe were to be made speciå-

cally to Ngati Ruanui and the draft apology was for incidents which hap-

pened directly to Pakakohi, not Ngati Ruanui. In sum, Mrs Parker argued

that Pakakohi were in danger of suäering ‘irreparable loss’ and that the

Crown was creating new grievances in settling old ones.11

1.12 The Tribunal’s Direction

On 2 December 1999, the Tribunal’s chairperson, the Honourable Justice

ETJDurie, sought conårmation from the Crown as to whether it

[7]
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intended to settle Wai 758 at the same time as settling Wai 99. He also

sought an assurance that the Wai 99 and Wai 758 claimants were being rep-

resented in the negotiations to settle those two claims. He invited a quick

response from the Crown and noted that the Tribunal would consider an

application for an urgent hearing in the event that parties could not agree

to a negotiations process to settle Wai 99 and Wai 758.12

1.13 The Crown’s Response

On 11 January 2000, after the new Minister in Charge of Treaty of

Waitangi Negotiations had been briefed on the matter, Crown counsel

conårmed that it was the Crown’s intention that Wai 758 would be

brought to an end by the implementation of the settlement of Ngati

Ruanui’s historical claims. On the second matter, it was stated that

Pakakohi representation had been provided for through the ongoing avail-

ability on the working party for representation from Manutahi Marae.

Crown counsel submitted that, although that marae had not taken up the

position, Pakakohi representation remained provided for by the fact that a

number of the working party members aïliated with Pakakohi.13 Counsel

also observed that the Pakakohi claimants would have the opportunity to

participate in both the deed of settlement ratiåcation process and the leg-

islative (select committee) process that would be needed to make the set-

tlement binding.14

1.14 The Claimants’ Response

In a response of 3 February 2000, claimant counsel argued that it would be

a dangerous precedent, and contrary to the principles of natural justice

and the Treaty of Waitangi, for the Crown to include Wai 758 in any settle-

ment with Ngati Ruanui. Counsel took strong issue with what he per-

ceived as the Crown’s position that ‘the mere provision of this opportu-

nity for representation [through Manutahi Marae] is suïcient’ (emphasis

in original).15

[8]
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1.15 Tangahoe Amended Statement of Claim

As noted above, the Wai 142 Tangahoe raupatu claim was originally åled

in 1990 and amended in 1995. In January 2000, the Tangahoe claimants ap-

plied for an urgent hearing of their claim. Then, on 18 April 2000, their

statement of claim was further amended to cover the same issues as were

raised in Wai 758.

1.16 Judicial Conference to Consider Applications for Urgency

At a judicial conference on 22 May 2000, counsel for the Pakakohi claim-

ants reiterated his earlier arguments and raised the concern that there was

no stipulation in the heads of agreement as to how the $41 million settle-

ment moneys were to be spent. Counsel felt that there was no guarantee

that any of the amount would go to Pakakohi, despite the fact that a reason-

able proportion of the sum would be going towards settling Pakakohi

grievances.

Counsel also objected to the way the heads of agreement provided for

Ngati Ruanui, and not Pakakohi, to be consulted over such things as natu-

ral resources and place name changes. In sum, he asserted that the Crown

settling Wai 758 without dealing with his clients would breach the natural

justice requirements of section 27(1) of the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act

1990, as well as the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi.16

The Crown opposed the applications, reiterating its position on the pro-

priety of the mandating process and the adequacy of the safeguards pro-

tecting Pakakohi and Tangahoe interests. Also reiterated was the Crown’s

submission that an ‘undesirable precedent’ would be established should

the Tribunal grant urgency to the claims, because objectors to mandating

decisions could be encouraged to challenge them in the Tribunal rather

than working with the mandated negotiators.17

1.17 Judicial Conference Leads to Mediation

At the judicial conference, the Tribunal invited the Crown to suspend its

negotiations with the working party for 21 days to allow a Tribunal-facili-

tated mediation between the parties to proceed. The Crown did not agree

[9]
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to suspend the negotiations but conårmed that no deed of settlement

would be initialled during the 21-day process and that it had no objection

to the mediation taking place.18

The mediation period was subsequently extended until 23 June 2000,

and discussions continued between the parties after that date. On 26 July

2000, in response to a request from Wai 758 counsel (assented to by the

other parties), the Tribunal agreed to suspend the application for urgency

sine die, on the proviso that it could be revived at three days’ notice.19

1.18 The Third Application for Urgency

On 16 October 2000, claimant counsel (now acting for the Wai 758, Wai

99, and Wai 142 claimant groups) requested that the urgency application

be revived. Counsel explained that the mediation had not been successful

but that the parties had continued their discussions thereafter. He submit-

ted that the Crown had agreed not to initial a deed of settlement or to expe-

dite progress towards one while the discussions were ongoing. However,

the discussions had not led to any agreement and the claimants had just

learned that the Crown and the working party intended to initial a deed of

settlement in mid-November. This was asserted to be in breach of the

Crown’s earlier undertaking and so, once more, an urgent hearing was

sought.20

1.19 The Crown’s Position

By submission of 20 October 2000, Crown counsel opposed the applica-

tion for urgency. It was said that claimant counsel’s statement that discus-

sions had broken down over ‘fundamental issues’ was correct in so far as it

meant that the Crown was not prepared to recognise separate iwi status

for Tangahoe or Pakakohi. It was disputed that the Crown had agreed, af-

ter the mediation period had expired, to continue its undertaking that a

deed of settlement would not be initialled. Further, Crown counsel con-

årmed that Cabinet approval of the deed of settlement was being sought

on 6 November 2000.21

[10]
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1.20 Evidence of Events since Mediation

With Crown counsel’s submissions was åled a statement from Andrew

Hampton (a manager at ots with responsibility for settling Taranaki

claims) summarising developments since the mediation.22 Mr Hampton

referred to a Crown oäer to fund the Tangahoe and Pakakohi claimants to

enter discussions with the working party aimed at accommodating the

claimants’ concerns about the settlement and the tight timeframe

planned for its initialling and ratiåcation. He said the amount of $5000

had been released to each claimant group in late August and early Septem-

ber 2000 and some progress was made early in October, which was after

the Crown had informed the Tangahoe and Pakakohi claimants that the

working party and the Crown were working towards initialling a deed of

settlement within two months. In particular, a ‘constructive’ meeting had

been held on 9 October 2000 between ots, counsel for the Wai 758 claim-

ants, and counsel for the working party. However, on 13 and 17 October,

Pakakohi and then Tangahoe withdrew from discussions and notiåed

their intention to reapply for urgency.

Mr Hampton expressed surprise at recent comments by the claimants

that the discussions failed because the fundamental matters of their status

as iwi and their wish to enter into separate negotiations with the Crown

could not be addressed. His own understanding was that the discussions

agreed to after the mediation did not include those matters. In his view,

the Crown had been willing to explore practical ways of accommodating

the claimants’ concerns. Indeed, ots had already agreed, subject to the

working party’s conårmation, to certain changes in the settlement docu-

ment, even though the claimants had now withdrawn from discussions.

The changes agreed to by ots related to:

. direct reference to the Waitangi Tribunal’s åndings regarding the sta-

tus of Tangahoe, Pakakohi, and Ngati Ruanui;

. greater prominence to Tangahoe and Pakakohi in the claimant group

deånition; and

. speciåc reference to Pakakohi prisoners in the Crown’s apology.

Mr Hampton also noted other areas in which ots and the working

party were prepared to consider speciåc proposals from the claimants, in-

cluding place name changes and the acknowledgement of traditional

taonga species. Further, the working party had agreed to seek the wider
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claimant community’s view on a proposal for ‘direct Tangahoe and

Pakakohi representation on the proposed post-settlement governance

entity’.23

Finally, Mr Hampton conårmed that the Crown was aiming to initial a

deed of settlement by mid-November and have the deed ratiåed by the

end of the year. He pointed out that any delay would prejudice those mem-

bers of Pakakohi and Tangahoe who supported the working party.

1.21 The Tribunal’s Second Decision on Urgency

The Tribunal considered the revived application for urgency at a judicial

conference on 25 October 2000. In an oral decision, Chief Judge Joseph

Williams summed up the issue as involving the essential question of

whether Pakakohi and Tangahoe were suïciently viable and functioning

communities in their own right to deserve to be negotiated with sepa-

rately over the raupatu grievance. Two matters required consideration, he

said, before a decision on the application could be made:

. whether there was a genuine argument about that question; and

. if so, whether the opportunity to argue it would be lost if the Crown

and the working party went ahead as planned and signed a deed of

settlement.

Judge Williams considered that the answer to the årst question was

‘yes’ because the case for the application had been both årmly put and

årmly rejected. Since the answer to the second question was also ‘yes’, the

application for urgency was granted – but on two conditions. The årst was

that the hearing concern only Wai 758 and the equivalent aspects of Wai

142. The second was that the Tribunal’s hearing and reporting process not

disrupt the tight timeframe for Cabinet to consider the deed of settlement

on 6 November.

Accordingly, the hearing of the urgent claim was set down for 1 and 2

November, with the intention that the Tribunal would issue its report on

Friday 3 November. As it transpired, however, the hearing continued into 3

November, and Crown counsel advised that day that Cabinet’s consider-

ation of the deed of settlement was to be slightly delayed to allow the Tribu-

nal further time to consider and write its report.

[12]
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2. KEY EVENTS AND DOCUMENTS

The following is a chronological record of the key events, documents, and

decisions from the mid-1990s to the Crown’s recognition of the working

party’s deed of mandate in 1998.

2.1 1995

2.1.1 April: trial team commissioned

In April 1995, the Tribunal commissioned Taranaki Maori Trust Board

counsel Phillip Green to utilise a subcommittee of the board known as the

‘trial team’ (comprising representatives of each of the eight tribes on the

board) to:

investigate, and to consult with appropriate bodies, on the optimum

method for negotiating a settlement of the Taranaki claims, and . . . to

åle a report thereon with the Tribunal, with copy to Crown Law Oïce

and Oïce of Treaty Settlements.1

2.1.2 November–June : working party mandating hui

From November 1995 to June 1997, a series of consultation and mandating

hui were held at a number of local marae to elect working party delegates

to represent Ngati Ruanui hapu.

2.2 1996

2.2.1 April: trial team report completed

In April 1996, the trial team, now known as the Taranaki Muru me te

Raupatu Coordination Team, submitted its report to the Tribunal. In it,

the team identiåed the extent to which the eight Taranaki iwi had stable

and representative structures which could claim a legitimate mandate to

represent the interests of tribal members in settlement negotiations. The

Ngati Ruanui Tahua (or trust board) was named by the team as an
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authority that still had work to do to improve its mandate and its report-

ing processes.2 The report noted that iwi (such as Ngati Ruanui) with ‘non-

participating hapu’ might have to ‘formalise an agreement about how

their interests are to be handled in negotiations’.3

More speciåcally, the team reported that:

Ngati Ruanui has some unresolved representation issues. The extent

to which one body has the mandate to speak and interact on matters deal-

ing with the Muru Raupatu Claim is clear except for the Tangahoe and

Pakakohi issue. The Ngati Hawe hapu has not made a decision on

whether Tangahoe or Ngati Ruanui represent their interests. Ngati

Ruanui are also waiting on Ngati [Takou] to resolve their situation as to

whether they are joining Pakakohi or Ngati Ruanui. . . .

The issue of mandate is complicated by Pakakohi and Tangahoe’s

quest for iwi status. In the last few years they have claimed iwi status, and

their relationship with Ngati Ruanui has yet to be resolved.4

The report noted that Pakakohi counterclaims had also impacted on

Nga Rauru, although Ngati Ruanui and Nga Rauru had amicably resolved

issues of overlap between them. The report’s authors stated their belief

that:

the position of Pakakohi in relation to the Nga Rauru claim will take

much longer to resolve as it is complicated by very close whakapapa ties

and internal family divisions. Nga Rauru acknowledges the existence of

Pakakohi as a historically recognised grouping but in the last few years

have had some diïculty establishing a non-confrontational formal rela-

tionship with those claiming to be the ‘Authority’. We continue to have

hopes that the issue will eventually be settled amicably but have some

concerns that fragmentation within Pakakohi will delay this process.5

2.2.2 May:  Crocker report

In May 1996, Therese Crocker, a historian at ots, completed an internal

historical research report entitled ‘Historical Assessment of South Tara-

naki – Ngati Ruanui, Pakakohi, and Tangahoe’.6 The report was under-

taken to assess the validity of the claims of Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe

Inc that Ngati Ruanui were not a true iwi but a missionary-created and
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Crown-legislated group of liberated slaves who had usurped the other

two groups from their position as tangata whenua in south Taranaki. It

was also intended to ascertain the extent to which Pakakohi and Tangahoe

had traditionally been independent of Ngati Ruanui.

Crocker found no evidence to support the arguments about Ngati

Ruanui’s origins made by the other two groups. She was more equivocal

on whether Pakakohi were traditionally regarded as an iwi in their own

right or as a hapu of Ngati Ruanui. She recommended that further re-

search be undertaken on the matter, which she also recommended in re-

spect to Tangahoe, about whom she could ånd very little information.

2.2.3 June: Taranaki Report released

As we have already outlined in chapter 1, the Taranaki raupatu claims – in-

cluding those of Ngati Ruanui, Tangahoe, and Pakakohi – were reported

on by the Waitangi Tribunal in an interim report released in June 1996. In

terms of hapu representation, that report suggested that the claims not be

dealt with by one single Taranaki settlement but by settlements with the

main hapu aggregations. The Taranaki Tribunal pointed out that these

would by necessity be the main hapu aggregations that exist today, rather

than those that have existed throughout history. The Tribunal noted that

eight such groupings – namely Ngati Tama, Ngati Mutunga, Ngati Maru,

Te Atiawa, Taranaki, Nga Ruahine, Ngati Ruanui, and Nga Rauru – were

represented on the Taranaki Maori Trust Board and that most speakers be-

fore the Tribunal presumed that these were the only such groupings. How-

ever, the Tribunal concluded that, on the basis of ‘their regular appear-

ances and submissions at hearings spread over the last åve years’,

Pakakohi and Tangahoe had also demonstrated that ‘they exist today as

distinctive and viable entities deserving separate consideration’. Any

other groups which appeared, the Tribunal wrote, seemed ‘to fall within

the [10] umbrella groups named’.7

In terms of settlement apportionment between the 10 groups, the Tribu-

nal cautioned that it was not suïcient to quantify land loss, for example,

as the basis on which to calculate redress. This was because ‘there was not

one hectare of the land of any hapu that was not deleteriously aäected in

some way’. The Tribunal also reasoned that neither was population basis

helpful, ‘because population is conditioned by land loss’. The Tribunal

[15]

Key Events and Documents 2.2.3

7. Waitangi Tribunal, The Taranaki
Report: Kaupapa Tuatahi, Wellington,
GP Publications, 1996, p 315



was hopeful that apportionment could be agreed upon amongst the hapu,

in three regional settlements, without its further input. It did state its view,

however, that:

although we recognise Pakakohi and Tangahoe as functioning entities of

distinctive tradition, they have not had an exclusive occupation of terri-

tory nor have they established to our satisfaction that they have asserted

such pre-eminence either formerly or today as might entitle them to

share equally with Nga Ruahine, Ngati Ruanui, and Nga Rauru.8

The Tribunal also stated in the preface to the report that it granted leave

to the parties ‘to seek further hearing on the whole or any aspect of the

claims or this report, if the proposed negotiations are unsuccessful or

would beneåt from further consideration of particular items’.9

2.3 1997

2.3.1 March–November: Pakakohi mandating hui

Three Pakakohi mandating hui were held in March, May, and November

1997 in Levin, Gisborne, and Patea respectively (the latter at the Patea Old

Folks Hall). Twelve people were present at the Levin hui, 42 at Gisborne,

and 34 at Patea.10

2.3.2 June: submission of working party deed of mandate

The coordinator of the working party, Te Huirangi Waikerepuru, submit-

ted the working party’s deed of mandate to the Minister in Charge of

Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations on 25 June 1997.11 Mr Waikerepuru re-

ferred to those identifying speciåcally as Pakakohi and Tangahoe and

stated that ‘all of those persons are also Ngati Ruanui and we have an obli-

gation to ensure that they are able to beneåt from any settlement’. He

added that there were ‘matters to resolve with groups claiming Tangahoe

and Pakakohi status’. He also attached documents showing the names of

the mandated hapu representatives on the working party from hui held at

Ngatiki, Taiporohenui, Wharepuni, Whakaahurangi, Pariroa, and Mere-

mere Marae between November 1995 and June 1997.
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2.3.3 August:  memorandum to Minister; Minister’s letter to

working party

On 21 August 1997, the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotia-

tions was briefed in a memorandum by ots oïcials on possible

approaches for progressing the settlement of the claims of Ngati Ruanui,

Tangahoe, and Pakakohi.12 Oïcials noted that the Crown would have to

decide whether it would negotiate separately with Tangahoe and Paka-

kohi, adding that ‘The claimant mandating process may serve as a catalyst

for resolving the issue, or will at least allow the Crown to assess the sup-

port base of each group’.13 The Minister was then provided with three

options:

. First, and the Crown’s preference, was for Tangahoe and Pakakohi to

come to an arrangement with Ngati Ruanui whereby their claims

could be negotiated collectively. Oïcials considered this outcome

unlikely because of the ‘seemingly intractable positions expressed by

representatives of the various parties’.14

. The second option was for the Crown to conduct three separate sets

of negotiations. Oïcials noted that this would not be the Crown’s

preference, but that it ‘could be justiåed on the basis that the Tribu-

nal has recognised that Tangahoe and Pakakohi are distinct entities

and therefore deserve separate consideration’.15

. The third option was to recognise the Ngati Ruanui deed of mandate

and not negotiate separately with Tangahoe and Pakakohi, on the ba-

sis that neighbouring iwi do not recognise them as iwi. Oïcials

noted that this approach ‘would go against the åndings of the Tribu-

nal and is likely to be strongly opposed by the Tangahoe and

Pakakohi representatives’. However, oïcials added that:

Such an approach could be justiåed . . . if the mandate evalua-

tion process found that there was wide support for a Ngati Ruanui

Deed of Mandate and little support for Deeds of Mandates submit-

ted by Tangahoe and Pakakohi.16

Another potential justiåcation for this approach was the sug-

gested requirement for Ngati Ruanui ‘to make provision for the repre-

sentation of Tangahoe and Pakakohi interests on the negotiating

body’.17

The memorandum stated that six of the 10 Ngati Ruanui marae sup-

ported the working party (that is, those listed in the working party deed

[17]
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of mandate application), but conceded that mandate issues were not com-

pletely resolved at Ngatiki Marae. Oïcials added that two other marae

(Wai-o-Turi and Whenuakura) appeared likely to go with Nga Rauru and

another (Ngarongo) had opted to go with Nga Ruahine. Furthermore, it

seemed that Manutahi Marae had chosen to go with Pakakohi, although

this had not yet been communicated to the Crown.18

The memorandum concluded by stating that oïcials did not consider

it necessary:

for the Crown to come to a ånal decision on how to approach the issue of

Tangahoe and Pakakohi recognition prior to the publicising of the

Working Party’s Deed of Mandate. Rather, the submissions process will

allow the Crown to assess the relative support of these groups and the ex-

tent to which their interests can be included within a wider Ngati Ruanui

mandate.19

On 22 August 1997, the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negoti-

ations wrote to Mr Waikerepuru to inform the working party that the

Crown intended to call for public submissions on the party’s deed of man-

date. The Minister added:

The Crown has yet to come to a position on the status to be accorded

Tangahoe and Pakakohi in the negotiation process, and would prefer it if

the groups themselves resolved this issue. If this is not possible, the

Crown will await the outcome of the public submission process on the

Working Party’s Deed of Mandate before making its decision. The sub-

mission process will allow the Crown to assess the size of the Tangahoe

and Pakakohi interests and the extent to which they can be represented

within the Working Party’s Deed of Mandate.20

The letter was copied to Waveney Stephens of Tangahoe and Piki Parker

of Pakakohi.

2.3.4 October–November: submissions process

During October and November 1997, submissions were åled on the work-

ing party’s deed of mandate. Eleven objecting submissions were åled, as

listed here. For Tangahoe:

. Rita Bublitz, Aroha Houston, Waveney Stephens, Andrea Williams,

and Barry Bublitz on behalf of themselves;
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. Rita Bublitz, as chairperson of Te Iwi o Tangahoe Inc and Tribal

Trust;

. Waveney Stephens in her capacity as secretary of Ngatiki Marae; and

. Ken Horner, as legal counsel for Rita Bublitz, Aroha Houston, and

Waveney Stephens.

For Pakakohi:

. Piki Parker, as tribal coordinator of Te Runanganui o te Pakakohi

Trust Inc; and

. Huka Kahukuranui and Rongo Kahukuranui on behalf of

themselves.

According to the tpk summary of these submissions, they were pre-

dominantly focused on the allegation that Ngati Ruanui were created by

the Crown last century and were not the true tangata whenua of south

Taranaki.21 Mr Horner asked that questions of iwi identity and tangata

whenua status be resolved before negotiations with Ngati Ruanui began

and submitted that Tangahoe required research funding. Mrs Parker also

noted that a Pakakohi tribal mandate hui of 1 November 1997 had resolved

to object to the Ngati Ruanui claim to Pakakohi lands.

2.3.5 November: working party response to mandate submissions

On 26 November 1997, the chair of the working party submitted a bundle

of papers and a summary to ots disputing the allegations made in the

Tangahoe and Pakakohi submissions.22 These included papers on the sta-

tus of Pakakohi and Tangahoe that had already been forwarded to the Tri-

bunal in September 1997. The working party stated that Rita Bublitz’s fa-

ther had been Ngati Ruanui’s elected representative on the Taranaki

Maori Trust Board. It also stated that Mrs Bublitz, formerly the treasurer

of the Ngati Ruanui Tahua Iwi Authority, had fallen out with the tahua

with the result that the claim was ‘driven by malice rather than by any con-

cern for historical accuracy’.

The working party then noted the close familial ties to Mrs Bublitz of

three of the other Tangahoe objectors. It described as ‘patently false’ the

allegation of Aroha Houston that Ngati Ruanui had not been present in

Taranaki until after 1840. It rejected the signiåcance of the name of the

‘Tangahoe Tribal Trust’, stating that the trust had been set up to adminis-

ter a small block of land in Hawera and that those who had established it

in no way intended to imply that Tangahoe was a tribe distinct from Ngati

[19]

Key Events and Documents 2.3.5

21. Document a22, p 13
22. Document a13, vol 1(19)



Ruanui. It also implied that the Pakakohi mandate hui on 1 November 1997

was not in accordance with Maori tikanga, as it had not been held on a

marae.

The working party commented that there was a ‘rich irony’ that the ob-

jectors made so much of the occasional comment by colonial Pakeha oï-

cials that Tangahoe and Pakakohi were ‘tribes’. These oïcials, it said,

‘were intent on alienating the land from our ancestors and . . . were com-

pletely indiäerent to the semantics of “tribe” and “sub-tribe”, “iwi” and

“hapu”’. The working party professed astonishment that ‘Tangahoe and

Pakakohi base their case on the few words of the very men that took away

our land’.

2.3.6 December:  risk analysis

tpk completed its assessment of the risk to the Crown of recognising the

working party’s deed of mandate on 22 December 1997.23 As part of that as-

sessment, an analysis was done of the submissions made on the deed of

mandate.

The working party, tpk noted, had developed its mandate through a

‘bottom up’ process, ‘whereby sub-groups selected delegates to form a rep-

resentative body’.24 Four of the 10 Ngati Ruanui marae were identiåed as

supporting the working party’s mandate. Three others had chosen to aïli-

ate with Nga Ruahine or Nga Rauru. Of the other three, two were regarded

as ‘experiencing some internal dissent’. Ngatiki Marae had given support

to the working party through the marae chair, but ‘a faction from the ma-

rae has informed the Crown that the marae does not support the Deed of

Mandate’, and Taiporohenui Marae delegates had not supported the new

chair of the working party after Te Huirangi Waikerepuru was replaced in

November 1997.25 Manutahi Marae appeared to wish to aïliate with

Pakakohi.

tpk noted that Te Iwi o Tangahoe Inc and Te Runanganui o te Pakakohi

Trust Inc had both submitted that they were the true tangata whenua of

the area and that Ngati Ruanui were not a traditional iwi but rather a tribe

created by the Crown last century. It also noted that the working party

strongly disputed this and had supplied extracts from ‘historical docu-

ments’ to disprove it. tpk believed that the Tangahoe and Pakakohi oppo-

sition might be seen as either:
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1. a cross-claim by iwi seeking to ensure their legitimate claim is not

usurped by another iwi; or

2. a mandate challenge by dissenting groups within one claimant

community.26

The Tangahoe submissions, tpk felt, had been made by a few members

of the same extended family and were not ‘based on interests across the

broader spectrum of the claimant community’. Furthermore, Mrs Bublitz

and her family had previously held strong connections to Ngati Ruanui

but had fallen out with the tahua for various reasons. tpk also found it ‘tell-

ing’ that the Pakakohi submissions had not been developed from meet-

ings held on marae, and added that the one marae (Manutahi) that appar-

ently wished to aïliate with Pakakohi did not åle a submission or give

‘any formal indication of their stance on these issues’. tpk was of the view

that both sets of submissions had ‘limited support’.27

tpk concluded that, since there was not strong evidence that Tangahoe

and Pakakohi were iwi in their own right, the submissions from those pur-

porting to represent them would be ‘treated as arising from a minority in-

terest within Ngati Ruanui’.28 They did not, said tpk, have ‘the right to ne-

gotiate exclusively with the Crown to settle historical grievances’ and

should ‘approach the Crown in conjunction with the claimant groups

with whom they historically shared occupation of territory’.29 However,

tpk recommended that the Crown require the working party to provide

for Pakakohi and Tangahoe interests by designating one place on the work-

ing party for a Tangahoe representative from Ngatiki Marae and ‘at least

two places’ for delegates from Manutahi Marae.30

2.4 1998

2.4.1 March:  risk assessment; Pakakohi notice of intention to

submit deed of mandate; Cabinet Strategy Committee decision

In March 1998, ots completed its own assessment of the risks to the

Crown of accepting the deed of mandate submitted by the working

party.31
ots concluded that the working party had the mandate to negoti-

ate the settlement of Ngati Ruanui’s historical claims ‘on behalf of the en-

tire claimant community’. The major risk identiåed to the Crown in recog-

nising this mandate was the opposition of Tangahoe and Pakakohi
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aïliates. ots stated that most of the Tangahoe objectors ‘had family or

other links with other submitters and several appear to have links with

Ngati Ruanui’, and also commented that ‘The fact that there [were] only

three Pakakohi submissions objecting to the Working Party, even though

Te Takere Marae has supposedly chosen to progress its claim [as]

Pakakohi, is also signiåcant’.32

However, ots recommended that the Crown require the working party

to make greater provision for Tangahoe and Pakakohi representation on

it. To this end, it suggested either:

. an additional place for Ngatiki Marae to represent Tangahoe inter-

ests and the holding open of a place for Manutahi Marae for

Pakakohi interests; or

. guaranteed representation for Te Iwi o Tangahoe and Te Runanganui

o te Pakakohi Inc.

Oïcials preferred the årst option, since the second would ‘represent a

move away from the marae-based approach to representation’ taken by

the working party. ots also thought it ‘unclear the extent to which these

two organisations have a mandate from the communities they seek to rep-

resent’.33

ots also considered that, should the Tangahoe and Pakakohi representa-

tives choose to exercise their right not to take up places on the working

party, the Crown should not feel constrained from negotiating a settle-

ment with the working party. This was because the working party had ‘pre-

dominant support from within Ngati Ruanui and has made provision for

representation of the two dissenting groups’.34

ots also stated that:

The fact that Tangahoe and Pakakohi representatives have indicated

they intend to submit their own Deeds of Mandate does not alter the con-

clusions of this assessment. Any Deeds of Mandate submitted to the

Crown will be assessed on their merits, although as this assessment has

found, neither Tangahoe or Pakakohi have so far presented strong

enough cases for the Crown to entertain separate negotiations with

them.35

On 28 March, Waveney Stephens wrote to the Minister in Charge of

Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations advising that Te Runanganui o te

Pakakohi Trust Inc wished to meet with him to submit a deed of mandate.
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2.4.2 April: submission on Tangahoe deed of mandate; Cabinet

decision;  briefing of Minister; Minister’s confirmation of Cabinet

decision

On 8 April 1998, the Cabinet Strategy Committee agreed to the recommen-

dation of the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations that

Cabinet recognise the working party deed of mandate on condition that,

inter alia:

. ‘provision is made for the representation of Tangahoe interests

through an additional Ngatiki Marae representative on the Working

Party’; and

. ‘continued provision is made for Te Takere Marae representatives on

the Working Party to represent Pakakohi interests’.36

The committee made an additional note that:

recognising the Working Party’s mandate on the terms referred to . . .

above will send a clear signal to those individuals who identify exclu-

sively as Tangahoe and Pakakohi that the Crown intends to address their

claims under a Ngati Ruanui umbrella.37

On 9 April, Te Iwi o Tangahoe Inc submitted its deed of mandate papers

to ots for consideration.

At its meeting on 20 April, Cabinet agreed to the Cabinet Strategy Com-

mittee’s recommendations.

On 23 April, ots recommended that the Minister in Charge of Treaty of

Waitangi Negotiations sign letters to the chair of the working party and

the principal Tangahoe and Pakakohi spokespeople advising them of Cab-

inet’s decision.38 The Minister was also invited to note that, in light of that

decision, ots did not intend to seek submissions on the recently received

Te Iwi o Tangahoe Inc deed of mandate or the deed of mandate of Te

Runanganui o te Pakakohi Inc that had not yet been submitted.

On 24 April, the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations

sent letters to working party chair Pat Heremaia, to Rita Bublitz and Piki

Parker, and to the chairmen of both Ngatiki and Manutahi Marae advis-

ing them of Cabinet’s decision.39 The Minister stated that the Crown was

not prepared to enter into separate negotiations with groups representing

Pakakohi and Tangahoe. He recognised, though, that ‘the Pakakohi or

Tangahoe submitters may have some interests that are distinct from the

wider Ngati Ruanui group’, and he therefore noted the special conditions

concerning representation from Ngatiki and Manutahi Marae.
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2.4.3 June: Pakakohi deed of mandate completed but not submitted

On 4 June 1998, the deed of mandate papers of Te Runanganui o te

Pakakohi Trust Inc were ånalised, and a letter to accompany them was

drafted to the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations.40

Counsel for the claimant group advised that the papers were not submit-

ted, however, because of Cabinet’s decision not to enter into separate nego-

tiations with Pakakohi.
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3. THE CASE FOR WAI 758 AND WAI 142

3.1 Introduction

In the årst instance, counsel for both the Wai 758 claimants and the Wai

142 claimants åled a précis of issues on 27 October 2000. This summa-

rised the main arguments to be adduced at the urgent hearing. To the ex-

tent that the précis reiterated the claimants’ well-established position, we

need not record its detail here, other than to note that counsel sought the

following recommendations from the Tribunal:

1. That any settlement purporting to apply to the claimants cease im-

mediately.

2. That the Crown consider Deeds of Mandate from the claimants.

3. In the event that such Deeds are approved:

3.1 then the Crown enter into direct negotiations with Pakakohi and

Tangahoe;

3.2.1 (Alternatively) that the Crown recognise the independent status

of the claimants and ensure that that status and position of the

claimants is properly reëected in any settlement of their claims.1

From this point forward, Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc reverted to

separate legal representation. We consider årst the case put for Wai 758.

3.2 The Case for Pakakohi Inc

Legal submissions were made for the Pakakohi claimants by John Upton

qc. In his absence, James Johnston led submissions in reply.

Mr Upton began by describing the course of events during the last few

years as having ‘all the makings of a Greek tragedy’. He saw the process as

having led inexorably to the obvious result, which was the urgent hearing

itself.

We identiåed a number of key points in Messrs Upton and Johnston’s

case, which we list and then expand on below:

. the Pakakohi Inc mandating hui of 1997 gave unanimous support;

. Pakakohi Inc was prepared for ‘side-by-side’ negotiations;

. Pakakohi Inc had received no funding from the Crown;
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. the Pakakohi Inc register of names was a further indicator of

support;

. a marae-based system of representation was inappropriate for

Pakakohi;

. Pakakohi Inc was willing to put arguments about Ngati Ruanui’s ori-

gins to one side;

. the territorial overlap with Nga Rauru meant that the settlement

would split Pakakohi’s rohe in two; and

. the Crown was wrong not to adopt the option suggested by oïcials

in August 1997 of assessing claimant community responses to a

Pakakohi Inc deed of mandate.

3.2.1 The Pakakohi Inc mandating hui of 

Mr Upton stated that Pakakohi had never been polled as part of the wider

Ngati Ruanui group. In fact, he did not believe that Ngati Ruanui had ever

had a poll at all. However, he did note that Pakakohi Inc had held three

mandating hui in March, May, and November 1997 (both before and after

the working party had submitted its own deed of mandate) in Levin, Gis-

borne, and Patea respectively. Mr Upton produced the minute book from

those meetings, and copies were made available to the Tribunal.2 As we

have related in chapter 2, this book revealed that 12 persons had been pres-

ent in Levin and 42 in Gisborne, and a separate list showed that 34 people

had attended in Patea.3

Mr Upton explained that the Patea meeting – indeed, the only one held

within the local vicinity – had been held at the Patea Old Folks Hall rather

than at Manutahi Marae for purely practical reasons (namely, that the ma-

rae had a limited spring-fed water supply and could not accommodate a

large hui). He pointed out that, for the same reason, the Taranaki Tribunal

had been unable to sit at Manutahi during the course of the Taranaki hear-

ings in the early 1990s. The point was important, said Mr Upton, because

tpk had criticised Pakakohi Inc for not developing any of its submissions

on the working party’s deed of mandate from meetings held on marae.

Mr Johnston later queried why tpk had not simply asked Pakakohi Inc

why the meeting was not held at Manutahi.
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3.2.2 Pakakohi Inc’s preparedness for ‘side-by-side’ negotiations

Mr Upton explained, again in response to the tpk risk analysis, that

Pakakohi Inc was not saying necessarily that it wished to negotiate exclu-

sively of Ngati Ruanui but rather that it had a right to negotiate alongside

its neighbours. We queried him as to whether this signaled a desire for ‘to-

getherness’, but Mr Upton preferred to describe it as ‘separateness’, which

he felt did not preclude negotiating ‘side by side’. He highlighted the fact

that the chair of the working party had written in May 1998 oäering the

Pakakohi runanga a place on the working party – rather than simply a

place for an elected representative of Manutahi Marae – but that this oäer

had later been withdrawn. In response to a question from the Tribunal, he

conårmed that Pakakohi Inc was still open to such an oäer being made.

We heard later from counsel for the working party that this oäer was

held open for the best part of a year before Pakakohi Inc made a coun-

ter-proposal for two places. At that point, the original oäer was with-

drawn (see s4.2).

3.2.3 The lack of Crown funding for Pakakohi Inc

Mr Upton went on to explain the ongoing problem of funding for

Pakakohi Inc. He contrasted this situation with that of the working party,

whose negotiating costs, he said, had been funded by the Crown to the

tune of hundreds of thousands of dollars. He noted that the Crown had

eventually released $5000 in September of this year to allow the discus-

sions between the parties to continue, and had oäered an additional

$10,000 on condition that both the application for an urgent Tribunal

hearing and Wai 758 itself were withdrawn. His clients had refused to

agree to these conditions, seeing their claims to the Tribunal as a neces-

sary safeguard. However, no sooner had the $5000 funding been used to

prepare an options paper, Mr Upton said, than his clients received indirect

conårmation that the Crown and the working party were aiming to initial

a deed of settlement within little more than a month. At that point, the dis-

cussions broke down and the further application for urgency was made.

Both Crown counsel and counsel for the working party later rejected

Mr Upton’s implications concerning the Crown’s funding of the working

party.
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3.2.4 The Pakakohi Inc register of names

Mr Upton adverted to a Pakakohi Inc register of supporters, which had

been typed out and included within the bundle of supporting docu-

ments.4 He stated that a registration form had been ålled out personally

by each registrant and that it was his understanding that those aïxing

their names must have been under the impression that they were ‘throw-

ing their lot in’ with Pakakohi Inc in terms of representation in the settle-

ment negotiations.

Mr Upton explained that all 306 names on the register had been gath-

ered in preparation for submitting the Pakakohi Inc mandate to the

Crown for consideration. He said that, once his clients learnt that the

Crown was not prepared to enter into separate negotiations with them,

they put their mandate preparations on hold and ceased to gather names

for the register. Mr Upton considered that the register had equated to the

mandate that the Crown in fact required, but he pointed out that this mat-

ter had not been debated since the Crown had refused to take the matter

any further once the working party’s mandate had been recognised.

The status of the register was later called into question by counsel for

the working party (see s4.2). In submissions in reply for Wai 758, Mr

Johnston acknowledged that the register of names was more in the nature

of a list of people supporting ‘Pakakohi Inc’ than those supporting sepa-

rate negotiations for Pakakohi. He explained that he was not so much

claiming a mandate for his clients as claiming that the Crown’s mandate as-

sessment process had been ëawed.

3.2.5 The inappropriateness of a marae-based system of

representation for Pakakohi

Mr Upton argued that the marae-based system of representation em-

ployed by the working party was disadvantageous to Pakakohi. Over 40

Pakakohi marae and pa sites had been destroyed by General Chute during

his bush-scouring campaign of the wars of the 1860s, he said, and

Manutahi was the only one left. He later conceded that not all the de-

stroyed sites were in fact permanently inhabited, because some had been

built by those ëeeing the troops as Chute pursued Pakakohi across their

land. He also acknowledged that the exact number was probably not
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known, since there had not been suïcient research into the matter. How-

ever, he felt the point was still valid that Pakakohi had been dispersed

among the marae of neighbouring hapu, and were thus more favourable

to hapu-based rather than marae-based representation.

On a related point, Mrs Parker rejected the working party’s claim that

two Pakakohi marae (Meremere and Pariroa) supported its mandate.

These marae, she stated, were not actually marae of the two named

Pakakohi hapu but simply marae within the territory of those hapu.

3.2.6 The willingness to put to one side arguments about Ngati

Ruanui’s origins

In their submissions on the working party’s deed of mandate, the

Pakakohi claimants stressed that Ngati Ruanui were a missionary-created

people originating from liberated slaves returning to Taranaki in the

1840s. While Mr Upton said that his clients did not resile entirely from this

position, he did add that they were now more ‘commonsense’ about it and

had come to realise that the matter was really little more than a distrac-

tion. He agreed that the presence of this argument must have played a

large part in the Crown’s assessment of the submissions, as well as the

working party’s attitudes to his clients after that point. He felt, however,

that there was now some ‘room for movement’ on the matter. Mr

Johnston also stressed that Ngati Ruanui’s status had been recognised by

his clients for a considerable period of time and was not an issue.

3.2.7 The territorial overlap

Mr Upton did not agree that the fact that Pakakohi and Ngati Ruanui

shared territory meant they should be dealt with together in the same set-

tlement. He observed that overlapping territorial interests were usual in

traditional Maori society and gave the northern South Island as an exam-

ple where eight groups shared a complex and completely overlapping ten-

ure of land. Mr Upton felt a process had evolved which would settle

Pakakohi Inc’s claims without their consent and sever the Pakakohi rohe

in two, leaving all Pakakohi claims settled but half their grievances unde-

åned in the deed of settlement because of their overlap with Nga Rauru.
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3.2.8 The Crown’s rejection of the option suggested by officials in

August  of assessing claimant community responses to a Pakakohi

deed of mandate

Mr Upton had recently received copies from the Crown of two documents

mentioned in chaper 2. These were the 21 August 1997 ots memorandum

to the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations, and the let-

ter from the Minister to the coordinator of the working party, Mr

Waikerepuru, which was also copied to Piki Parker and Waveney

Stephens.5

Mr Upton noted the memorandum’s comment that ‘the claimant man-

dating process may serve as a catalyst for resolving the issue, or will at least

allow the Crown to assess the support base of each group’. He stressed

that such a comment was predicated on the basis that all deeds of mandate

would be made available for analysis, and reiterated that the process had

not been allowed to take place because his clients’ mandate had never

been assessed.

Mr Upton went on to note that the memorandum had set out for the

Minister three alternatives for progressing the matter (see s2.3.3). Impor-

tantly, stressed Mr Upton, ots commented at paragraph 16 that negotiat-

ing with Ngati Ruanui alone ‘could be justiåed . . . if the mandate evalua-

tion process found that there was wide support for a Ngati Ruanui Deed

of Mandate and little support for Deeds of Mandates submitted by

Tangahoe and Pakakohi’. Mr Upton reminded the Tribunal that it was this

mandate testing process that the Crown had eventually refused to

undertake.

Finally, Mr Upton noted that ots had advised at paragraph 24 of the

memorandum that the Crown should wait to consider how to deal with

Tangahoe and Pakakohi until after submissions had been received on the

working party’s deed of mandate. These submissions, it was felt, would al-

low the Crown to assess the three groups’ relative strengths. The accompa-

nying letter to Mr Waikerepuru advised the working party that public sub-

missions on its deed of mandate would be called for, which would ‘allow

the Crown to assess the size of the Tangahoe and Pakakohi interests and

the extent to which they can be represented within the Working Party’s

Deed of Mandate’. Mr Upton considered that, despite this letter being cop-

ied to Mrs Parker, Pakakohi Inc was preoccupied with its own mandating

process at the time and did not see it as relevant to divert its attentions to

making submissions on the working party’s mandate. As well, he said that
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the fact that it made only three submissions reëected its lack of organisa-

tion and funding, but he stressed that the quality of the submissions was

more important than their quantity.

Mr Johnston argued that the momentum that was building for separate

negotiations with Pakakohi Inc had been stopped in its tracks by the

Crown’s blunt refusal to entertain this prospect. He also made the point

that the mere copying of the letter to Mrs Parker was an insuïcient means

of stressing to Pakakohi Inc the importance of submissions on the work-

ing party’s mandate.

3.2.9 Conclusion

In sum, Mr Upton suggested that it would be better to stop the settlement

process now, despite the inconvenience, and completely reconsider how

matters should progress. Otherwise, he argued, the Crown would be rush-

ing into a big mistake. While it would be a drastic step to halt the settle-

ment process, he argued that there would have been no need to resolve

matters under such eleventh-hour urgency if the Crown had been more

deliberate in 1998. He conårmed that his clients were interested in advice

to help them back into constructive discussions.

Mr Johnston stressed that the crucial matter for his clients was one of

time. He said that he did not wish to hold up the settlement of the Ngati

Ruanui claim but did wish to ensure that the Crown got matters right. The

real issue was separateness, and to that end he cited what he saw as the sep-

arate history, grievances, traditions, whakapapa, place names, rohe, cul-

ture, and identity of Pakakohi. He denied that Pakakohi Inc’s interests

were adequately represented by the working party, noting his clients’ lack

of knowledge of the settlement process. They had not even seen the draft

deed of settlement, he added. Neither did he feel they could have been ade-

quately represented by a place at the table for Manutahi Marae. Overall, he

felt that the Crown’s system had been ëawed and was manifestly unsafe.

He asked only that the settlement be held up as it aäected Pakakohi, and

that his clients be allowed to submit their own deed of mandate for

consideration.

Mr Johnston asked that the Tribunal be careful in considering the issue

of relief, for if the matter were not adequately resolved, Pakakohi would

end up arguing the same case in another legal forum in the future.
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3.3 The Evidence for Pakakohi Inc

Counsel for the Pakakohi claimants åled three aïdavits and two bundles

of supporting papers.

3.3.1 Affidavit of Piki Parker

Mrs Parker noted that this was the fourth aïdavit that she had åled with

the Tribunal on this matter.6 She explained that she had grown up believ-

ing herself to be Nga Rauru, but during a ‘personal voyage of discovery’

during the 1980s she had discovered that she in fact belonged to Pakakohi.

This culminated in her åling of the Wai 99 claim on behalf of Pakakohi in

1989. She noted that Pakakohi had attended all 12 Tribunal hearings into

the Taranaki claims between 1990 and 1995 and highlighted once again

the Tribunal’s description of Pakakohi as a distinct and viable entity. After

the release of the Tribunal’s report, Mrs Parker explained, Pakakohi Inc

had attempted to gain wider recognition of the independent status that it

felt the Tribunal had acknowledged. She and others of Pakakohi Inc met

with ots oïcials in August 1996 to discuss a mandating and negotiating

process but were informed that there were matters to resolve before the

properly mandated group in the ‘Ruanui districts’ could be identiåed.7

Undeterred, Mrs Parker then related how she and others of Pakakohi

Inc had embarked upon the mandating process required by ots but had

been hampered by a lack of funding, which ots told them was not avail-

able until a mandate had been recognised. Pakakohi Inc had been con-

scious, she said, that the working party was holding its own mandating hui

in late 1996 and 1997, but she said that Pakakohi Inc had deliberately not at-

tended these hui ‘as we were clear in our minds that these hui were not for

us they were for Ngati Ruanui’. However, she said, on 25 June 1997 the

working party submitted its deed of mandate to the Minister in Charge of

Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations and claimed to represent Pakakohi, even

though it noted that there were ‘matters to resolve’ with groups claiming

Pakakohi and Tangahoe status.8

Mrs Parker said that submissions were called for on the working party’s

deed of mandate but implied that Pakakohi Inc did not fully grasp the ex-

tent to which it encompassed them as well. On 4 November 1997, she ad-

vised the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations that

Pakakohi Inc was intending to submit its own mandate for assessment.
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She added that Rongo Kahukuranui also made a submission on 12 Novem-

ber 1997 objecting to the working party’s mandate. Not long afterwards,

on 28 March 1998, Mrs Parker said that she had written again to the Minis-

ter advising him that Pakakohi Inc wished to meet him to present its man-

date. However, she discovered later that ots and tpk had prepared their

risk assessments by this time and that, on 6 April 1998, Cabinet had de-

cided to recognise the working party’s deed of mandate and not enter into

separate negotiations with Pakakohi Inc. She said that the Pakakohi Inc

deed of mandate had been completed by 4 June 1998 but was not sent to

the Minister since at that stage there no longer seemed any point. That

mandate, she said, had been gained by the unanimous support expressed

at the hui held in 1997 in Levin, Gisborne, and Patea.9

Mrs Parker then related how the Wai 758 claim had been åled in Novem-

ber 1998 by Huia Hayes, Mrs Parker’s mother, and that an urgent hearing

of the claim had been requested.10

Mrs Parker noted that the Crown’s recognition of the working party’s

deed of mandate had been conditional upon representation being made

available to Manutahi Marae. She explained that the chair of the working

party had later written to ots in January 1999 to list the ‘highlights’ of the

year in encouraging Pakakohi’s participation, but dismissed the matters

cited as little more than ‘unsubstantiated statements’. While the Tribu-

nal’s consideration of the Pakakohi claimants’ application for urgency

was being adjourned in early March 1999, she said that Pakakohi Inc met

with the working party and the Crown to try to reach an agreement.

Pakakohi Inc asked to have two representatives on the working party,

both to be chosen by Pakakohi Inc (one such place having been oäered in

May 1998). However, the working party refused this request, arguing that

such representation of Pakakohi would be ‘inappropriate’ and that ongo-

ing provision existed for Manutahi Marae to participate.11

Mrs Parker referred next to the Tribunal’s declining of the request for

urgency in April 1999 and the heads of agreement being signed between

the Crown and the working party in September. She then explained that

urgency was reapplied for, and related the process that led to the media-

tion in June 2000 and the discussions that followed it. Mrs Parker noted

that progress had been made in these discussions up to a point, but argued

that the Crown and the working party had pressed ahead furtively with

plans to initial a deed of settlement in November. She added that it was
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also clear that ‘the Crown would only support limited changes to the

Heads of Agreement’. For these reasons, it had been necessary to reapply

for an urgent hearing.12

3.3.2 Affidavit of Rongo Kahukuranui

Rongo Kahukuranui, a kaumatua of Pakakohi, asserted Pakakohi’s dis-

tinct identity from Ngati Ruanui.13 He described Pakakohi as an ancient

people, who had lived in Aotearoa since before the time of the ‘so-called

great migration’. He recited a Pakakohi pepeha and told of the unique

Pakakohi place names for features such as Taranaki maunga and the

Whenuakura River. He related some of the details of the ‘atrocities’ com-

mitted speciåcally against Pakakohi during the muru and the raupatu, in-

cluding the incarceration of more than 70 Pakakohi men. He cited these

events as having severely aäected Pakakohi’s ability to maintain its oral

traditions and local pre-eminence. However, he asserted that today

Pakakohi have ‘re-grouped and regenerated’, noting that Wai 99 was åled

with the Tribunal some eight months before the Ngati Ruanui claim Wai

140.

3.3.3 Affidavit of Dr Bryan Gilling

The aïdavit of Dr Bryan Gilling was of a fundamentally diäerent na-

ture.14 Dr Gilling is an experienced historian based in Wellington and has

presented evidence on several claims to the Waitangi Tribunal. In the past,

he has been commissioned by the Tribunal, the Crown Law Oïce, ots,

and a number of claimant groups. His evidence on behalf of Pakakohi Inc

in this claim brought some specialised knowledge to the inquiry by virtue

of his having held the position of senior historian and historical team man-

ager at ots from 1995 to 1996, at a time when Taranaki tribal mandating is-

sues årst began to be canvassed. Dr Gilling also informed us that he had

been the Crown’s principal negotiator for the historical recitals and

Crown apology in both the Waikato raupatu settlement legislation and

the Ngai Tahu deed of settlement and had dealt with historical and man-

dating issues from the Crown’s perspective for a number of claimant

groups. He gave evidence on the quality of the Crown’s assessment of the

working party’s deed of mandate and the Crown’s decision not to enter

into separate negotiations with Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc.
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In short, Dr Gilling was highly critical of what he saw as the Crown’s

lack of thoroughness in assessing the working party’s mandate. He under-

stood the Crown’s position to be based on a number of sources, namely:

. the Tribunal’s Taranaki Report ;

. the May 1996 ots Crocker report;

. a number of papers produced by the working party on the status of

Pakakohi and Tangahoe and forwarded to the Tribunal in September

1997;

. the December 1997 tpk risk analysis;

. the March 1998 ots risk assessment; and

. a background paper submitted by the Minister in Charge of Treaty of

Waitangi Negotiations to the Cabinet Strategy Committee, undated

but presumably dating from around April 1998, which appeared to

be based on the tpk and ots risk analyses.15

Dr Gilling also noted that he had not seen the 21 August 1997 ots memo-

randum to the Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations

prior to the hearing. However, he read it during the course of the proceed-

ings and through counsel stated that nothing in it altered his views at all.

(1) The Tribunal’s report

Dr Gilling made the following points. First, he stated that the Taranaki Tri-

bunal had been unambiguous in acknowledging Pakakohi and Tangahoe

as ‘functioning entities of distinctive tradition’ and ‘distinctive and viable

entities deserving separate consideration’. He noted also that the Tribunal

had commented that the two groups might not be entitled to receive as

large a quantum in settlement as their neighbours (Nga Rauru, Nga

Ruahine, and Ngati Ruanui). Dr Gilling then addressed the reference to

the lack of exclusive territorial possession by Pakakohi and Tangahoe, and

asserted his understanding that Maori land ownership was usually charac-

terised by overlapping interests. Thus, he said, ‘although there might well

have been more than one group claiming ownership and/or use rights,

this did not require that one of the competing groups was in some way in-

ferior to or part of the other’.16

(2) The 1996 ots historical report

Dr Gilling explained that the 1996 ots historical report had been com-

pleted by a junior historian (Therese Crocker), who had reached tentative

åndings only and had correctly recommended that further research into
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the relationships between Pakakohi, Tangahoe, and Ngati Ruanui be un-

dertaken. The purpose of this report had been to acquaint ots policy oï-

cials with issues they would face in the negotiation process and was ‘never

intended to be a deånitive statement’. Crocker had refused to be drawn ab-

solutely on the independent status of Pakakohi and Tangahoe, conårming

instead that they had been deånitely identiåable groups at the time of the

wars and the raupatu in the 1860s. She argued that a proper analysis

should go well beyond the available (Pakeha-oriented) written sources.17

Dr Gilling considered that Crocker ‘left the question open; she did not

close it in favour of the dismissal of [Pakakohi Inc’s and Tangahoe Inc’s]

claims to independence from Ngati Ruanui’.18

(3) The 1997 working party papers

Dr Gilling then observed that the working party papers of September

1997 successfully demonstrated Ngati Ruanui’s existence prior to the

1860s but did not shed any more light on the status of Pakakohi and

Tangahoe. He noted that the authors of those papers had cited historical

material without any assessment of the writers’ credibility. By contrast, he

himself would not have credited the writings of Dieäenbach in 1842 and

1843 as a ‘reliable authority’. Dr Gilling felt that all that the papers showed

with respect to Pakakohi and Tangahoe was that the historical record was

silent about them, which of itself proved nothing. He felt that the Tauranga

example was instructive, where the almost exclusive mention in the Euro-

pean documentary record was of Ngai Te Rangi alone, because of their

dominant position. This did not detract from Ngati Ranginui’s unques-

tioned existence, with separate waka aïliations and whakapapa.19

(4) The tpk risk analysis

Dr Gilling was particularly scathing about the tpk risk analysis, which he

described as ‘trite, superåcial and of no historical analytical value’. He

pointed out that it was not based on any original research into tribal

claims and interests and had ‘used – and misused – a very limited and

sometimes potentially biased range of sources’. The ‘historical docu-

ments’ used seemed to consist of a series of ‘extracts’ from sources which

ots had already identiåed in 1996 as being of questionable reliability.

Moreover, these ‘historical documents’ seemed to consist of typescripts

presented by the working party – in other words, they were not ‘historical

documents’ at all ‘but a collection of extracts selected, edited and typed by
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a modern author’. Dr Gilling also argued that tpk had misread the Tara-

naki Tribunal’s report by arguing that the comments about apportion-

ment indicated ‘that the groups do not have the right to negotiate exclu-

sively with the Crown to settle historical grievances’. Dr Gilling ventured

that ‘The Ministry therefore has founded its clear and deånitive statement

on an irrelevant basis and ignored the Tribunal’s other clear opinion that

the group[s] merited separate treatment’. He also found no justiåcation

for tpk’s emphasis, without any analysis or questioning, on the non-recog-

nition of Pakakohi and Tangahoe as iwi by their neighbouring Taranaki

iwi and the Treaty of Waitangi Fisheries Commission.20

Overall, Dr Gilling felt that tpk’s assessment of the historical evidence:

appears to be procedurally unfair in dismissing the claims of Tangahoe

and Pakakohi on the basis of this limited and prejudicially selective

group of sources, gleaned according to its own account from the very

bodies against whom the two groups are contending.21

(5) The ots risk assessment

Dr Gilling then went on to consider the ots risk assessment of March

1998. He observed that, while ots noted that the historical research upon

which it relied was ‘preliminary’ (the 1996 report), it then went on to ex-

clude Pakakohi and Tangahoe from separate negotiations. He described

ots’s movement from uncertainty about the two groups’ status to making

a decision about that status as ‘without logic’. He felt that ots’s reaching

of a årm conclusion ‘seems presumptuous and without årm foundation’,

and he could ascribe ‘such carelessness or presumption’ only to the

Crown’s openly stated desire to negotiate solely with ‘iwi’.22 He suggested

that the Crown was ‘visibly searching for the smallest number of

pan-Maori groups with which it needs to devote time and resources to ne-

gotiating’. The Crown’s own documents, he said, indicated ‘a predisposi-

tion to downplay issues and inconveniences that cut across this prefer-

ence’, and he argued that the Crown’s favoured policy pre-empted a ‘full

investigation and accommodation of alternative paradigms or tribal

realities’.23

(6) The 1998 Cabinet paper

Dr Gilling noted that the Cabinet paper relied on the ots assessment and

thus suäered the same ëaws and was open to similar criticisms, although
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he added that the paper compounded matters in places by ‘abbreviating

and removing the qualiåcations from the earlier statements so that they

appear more deånite and unquestionable than is in fact the case’. He ex-

pressed his concern, too, that the diäerences of opinion in the tpk and

ots analyses were apparently resolved by discussions amongst oïcials.

This was a ‘nonsense when historical facts and issues are concerned’, he ar-

gued, and would not ‘produce a correct result or determine “the truth”’.

Dr Gilling stated that, as with other considerations of the issue by the

Crown, the Cabinet paper relied on the Taranaki Tribunal’s observation

that Pakakohi and Tangahoe had not held exclusive territorial possession

to imply that they must work conjointly with Ngati Ruanui. By contrast,

he said, the paper remained relatively silent on the Tribunal’s remark that

the two groups deserve separate consideration.24 Dr Gilling also rhetori-

cally asked whether Moriori and Ngati Mutunga on the Chathams were to

be required to negotiate a settlement conjointly since they shared a terri-

tory. He argued that such an idea ‘seems prima facie to be an unsound and

imposed straitjacket on the potential irregularities naturally present

within Maori society’.25

(7) Conclusion

Dr Gilling summed up the position thus:

Overall, one ånds this process of Crown decision-making, at least as

regards historical issues, to be something like a pyramid standing on its

point. The Waitangi Tribunal’s report suggests the two groups being

given separate consideration, but the oïcial reading of the ‘unequal

shares’ comment has been to consider that ‘unequal’ means no separate

share at all, a clear misreading. Then the historical evidence available to

the Crown has been weak at least, especially considering the potential

gravity of this decision. The tribunal’s report is repeatedly characterised

by its authors as preliminary. On the ots side, the Crocker memoran-

dum has been all that is available and the author of that made abundantly

clear how initial and preliminary her work was. On the tpk side, no re-

search seems to have been done and the Ministry has merely relied on

some documents generated by the Working Party, the very body com-

plained against by the claimants. It is apparent that in concluding that

Tangahoe and Pakakohi have no traditional rights to separate negotia-

tions, the Crown has made a historical decision based on little historical
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evidence, and indeed largely on the historical record being silent or am-

biguous. Historians have remained uncertain; the Crown has rushed in

where professionals have feared to tread.26

3.4 The Case for Tangahoe Inc

Mr Horner for Tangahoe Inc essentially made the following main points:

. the Tangahoe Inc deed of mandate had been submitted to ots but

had never been assessed;

. his clients were now willing to set aside their denial of Ngati Ruanui’s

existence and work cooperatively to reach an agreement; and

. a recommendation that more time be set aside before the deed of set-

tlement was signed would allow for compromise to be reached.

3.4.1 The Tangahoe Inc mandate

Mr Horner stated that Tangahoe had submitted a mandate to ots for as-

sessment in April 1998 but had never received any consideration of it. He

argued that steps towards signing a working party deed of settlement

should now cease, and that the Tangahoe Inc deed of mandate should be

assessed by the Crown. If approved, negotiations should be entered into

with Tangahoe Inc. However, Mr Horner could not produce the mandate

for our perusal and was unaware of its exact details. He had not prepared a

case speciåcally on it, believing instead that our inquiry was focused

solely on the working party’s deed of mandate. He accepted the point,

however, that a fundamental part of a challenge to the working party’s

mandate would be the credibility of Tangahoe Inc’s own mandate.

We were assisted by Crown oïcials from ots who were able to produce

a copy of the Tangahoe mandate papers from their åles. The papers in-

cluded a list of some 800 names. Mr Horner believed that this register had

been assembled for mandating purposes and currently contained some

1300 or 1500 names. However, he could not tell us when the list had been

initiated. Amongst the papers, we noted in the May 1997 minutes of the Te

Iwi o Tangahoe Inc annual general meeting a reference to another list of 91

supporters, which was not attached. In response to questions from the Tri-

bunal as to how this list should be reconciled with the 805 names on the

register, Mr Horner told us that he did not know. He also could not
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explain to us whether any relationship existed between the register and a

sample Tangahoe Inc mandate registration form, which also formed part

of the Tangahoe Inc mandate documents.

Mr Horner acknowledged that the register of names might be a list

solely of people who could aïliate with Tangahoe rather than of those

who support the Tangahoe Inc mandate. He explained, however, that he

and his clients had simply not had suïcient time to make an adequate

case on the extent of support for Tangahoe. He returned to the point that

the register had never been tested by the Crown and that, since his clients’

application for mandate recognition had ‘languished’ in Wellington for

some two years, Tangahoe had not had the opportunity that they should

have had to develop their support.

Mr Horner argued that the working party’s mandate was in no way

solid. He made the point that none of the working party’s mandating hui

statements was supported by any minutes. He felt that the working party

delegates were marae representatives, rather than those of hapu. He also

pointed to some confusion attached to the document åled by counsel for

the working party giving details of the hapu aïliations of the working

party’s members.27 Counsel for the working party had stated that there

were 18 working party members representing nine hapu and selected by

10 marae (excluding Manutahi). However, Mr Horner noted that there

were 21 members on the list aïliating variously to 16 diäerent hapu.

3.4.2 The denial of Ngati Ruanui’s existence

In response to the Tribunal’s observation that a strong theme running

through the Tangahoe Inc papers was that Ngati Ruanui were a kind of bo-

gus and legislated people, Mr Horner said that essentially that was still

Tangahoe Inc’s position. However, he added that his clients realised that it

was no longer sustainable or practical to continue to deny Ngati Ruanui’s

existence, and that their preference was now to ånd a way to work

together.

3.4.3 The requirement for more time

Mr Horner believed that a recommendation from the Tribunal for more

time to be taken over the settlement would allow a compromise to be
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reached, although he feared that the Crown’s political imperative was to

ånalise a settlement before Christmas. He felt, in essence, that the Crown

had simply got its settlement process wrong in south Taranaki. Tangahoe

Inc had, he said, demonstrated a right to be dealt with separately. That

said, he was prepared to ånd a way to come together at this late stage in the

process. His compromise suggestion was either a pan-tribal south Tara-

naki runanga to administer settlement moneys or, at least, greater

Tangahoe representation on the Ngati Ruanui settlement governance

body.

3.4.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, Mr Horner noted that the Tangahoe Tribal Trust had been

formed in 1959, that his clients had åled a claim with the Tribunal in 1990,

and that they had attended or taken part in all the Taranaki Tribunal hear-

ings. He stressed that a lack of research funding had meant that his clients

had had to undertake the historical research into their claims themselves,

despite being ‘amateurs’ with no expert historical training. He reiterated

that in 1996 the Taranaki Tribunal had recognised Tangahoe as a function-

ing entity of distinct tradition, and he expressed his clients’ dismay that

they could be simply ‘swept away’.

3.5 The Evidence for Tangahoe Inc

Briefs of evidence were åled on behalf of Tangahoe Inc by Rita Bublitz,

Waveney Stephens, Aroha Houston, Martin Edwards, and Te Huirangi

Waikerepuru. In addition, with the Tribunal’s leave some papers were

åled by counsel after the conclusion of the hearing, including a further

aïdavit of Mrs Bublitz’s explaining the Tangahoe Inc register and man-

date application.

3.5.1 Rita Bublitz

Mrs Bublitz outlined how Tangahoe Inc had never shared in the research

funding that had been made available to the Taranaki claimant groups to

present their claims to the Tribunal, in large part because of their
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non-recognition by the Taranaki Maori Trust Board. However, Tangahoe

Inc had carried on and researched and prepared its claim itself, and had at-

tended all 12 Tribunal hearings. Mrs Bublitz emphasised the Taranaki Tri-

bunal’s impression that Tangahoe was a group deserving of separate con-

sideration, and expressed a frustration that Tangahoe and Pakakohi had

not had the proper opportunity to demonstrate to the Tribunal that they

had indeed enjoyed a pre-eminence within their territory.

She then explained that relations between the south Taranaki tribes had

become ‘strained’ since the release of the Taranaki Tribunal’s report and

the commencement of mandating procedures. Tangahoe Inc had present-

ed its own mandate to ots for consideration in April 1998, but it had never

been acknowledged and the Crown had instead recognised the working

party’s mandate. She said that ots had explained this in a letter of August

1999 as being, amongst other things, on account of the ‘in-depth mandate

assessments’ carried out by ots and tpk. She added that there currently

existed an ‘atmosphere of hostility’ between Tangahoe Inc and the work-

ing party, ‘which the process since May of this year had done nothing to

ameliorate’.

With the Tribunal’s leave, after the hearing’s completion Mr Horner

åled additional evidence from Mrs Bublitz on the Tangahoe Inc register

and application for mandate recognition.28 Mrs Bublitz explained that the

register had been started in 1991 as a list of those who identiåed as

Tangahoe, and that there were currently 1378 names on it. She attached the

registration forms used in compiling the list, which, we noted, asked for

personal details rather than expressions of support for separate negotia-

tions for Tangahoe.29 Mrs Bublitz conårmed that ‘The register is not itself

conårmation of a Treaty of Waitangi claim mandate for Tangahoe’.

However, Mrs Bublitz did include a registration form that she said was

posted to 1000 members of Tangahoe seeking expressions of support for

‘Te Iwi o Tangahoe’ having the mandate ‘in all future negotiations and de-

velopment’.30 Mrs Bublitz said that 91 people had ålled in these forms, and

this was the list of names referred to in the minutes of the May 1997 annual

general meeting of Te Iwi o Tangahoe Inc (see s3.4.1). She felt that this had

been ‘a good response’.

She also disputed the claim of counsel for the working party that the

register contained the name of someone who had been dead for some

time. She said that the person named by counsel was still alive.
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3.5.2 Waveney Stephens

Waveney Stephens stated that, after she and others of Ngati Hawe and the

Hamua hapu of Tangahoe had established a hapu ‘mandate’ at Ngatiki Ma-

rae in September 1995, members of the working party had begun actively

trying to destabilise the process, holding their own meetings and selecting

new ‘mandate speakers’ for Ngati Hawe.31

3.5.3 Aroha Houston

Aroha Houston stated that she and another had been elected as the ‘man-

dated’ Ngati Tanewai representatives at Wharepuni Marae in 1995, but

that, through undemocratic means, they had been removed from these po-

sitions by marae trustees.32

She also stated that whakapapa showed that the åve Tangahoe hapu do

not link to the ancestor Ruanui. She further asserted that Tangahoe repre-

sentatives had been displaced by persons of Ngati Ruanui in local arrange-

ments with the Ministry of Education and the South Taranaki District

Council.

3.5.4 Martin Edwards

Martin Edwards explained that he was the mandated representative of the

Hamua hapu on the Ngati Ruanui working party.33 Despite this, he was

writing his submission in support of Tangahoe Inc’s request for ‘a

Waitangi Tribunal inquiry into the Ngati Ruanui Mandate’. He raised the

concerns of his hapu about the validity of the working party’s deed of

mandate, stating that the working party’s integrity had been ‘destroyed’.

This was because ‘unjust’ heads of agreement had been accepted and six

members of the working party had been selected by meetings of marae

trustees rather than having been mandated at full hapu hui. He also criti-

cised the Crown for relying on the ots and tpk risk analyses, which he felt

were ‘almost identical word for word’, and in places presented ‘a distorted

picture’.

Mr Edwards appended (but did not comment on) a written answer pro-

vided in the House on 15 July 1998 by the then Minister in Charge of Treaty

of Waitangi Negotiations, the Right Honourable Douglas Graham, in

response to a question from Sandra Lee. Ms Lee had asked whether all
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internal issues of hapu representation would be resolved before the work-

ing party established a legal identity and received claimant funding. The

Minister replied that Cabinet had approved the working party’s mandate

after a ‘rigorous assessment process’, which had involved ‘substantial his-

torical and contemporary research, and advice from Te Puni Kokiri’.

3.5.5 Te Huirangi Waikerepuru

Te Huirangi Waikerepuru (Mr Edwards’s father) was the coordinator of

the Ngati Ruanui working party from 1995 until November 1997, when, he

said, he withdrew as one of the Hapotiki representatives because of what

he saw as ‘hidden agendas’, ‘irregularities’, ‘anomalies’, and ‘manipula-

tions’. In short, Mr Waikerepuru seems to have felt that the Ngati Ruanui

Tahua was imposing its will upon the working party and ‘Taking over the

mana of hapu representatives whose responsibility it is, to represent the in-

terests of Hapu in matters relating to Muru/Raupatu Negotiations & Settle-

ment with government’.34
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4. THE CASE FOR THE CROWN AND THE WORKING
PARTY

4.1 The Crown’s Case

In sum, the Crown made the following main points:

. the Crown had kept an open mind on mandate issues, but the submis-

sions process had revealed where the claimant community’s support

lay;

. the decision to recognise the working party’s deed of mandate had

been in conformity with the Crown’s stated preference to negotiate

with large natural groupings;

. the contentious arguments about Ngati Ruanui’s origins had been

prominent in Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc submissions until very

recently;

. the Crown had lately made important concessions;

. no funding is made available to claimant groups until their mandate

has been recognised; and

. Pakakohi claims not covered by this settlement would be included

within the Nga Rauru settlement in due course.

Crown counsel Michael Doogan stated that the Crown still believed

that the Pakakohi and Tangahoe claimants were ‘dissenting groups within

one claimant community’. He rejected the claimants’ allegations that the

Crown had not followed a fair and just process in recognising the working

party’s deed of mandate. He said that the Crown stood by its decision to re-

cognise the mandate, and rejected in particular ‘the allegations that it has

relied upon inadequate or insuïcient evidence and research material as

the basis for recognition of the mandate’. He further maintained that the

claimants’ objections had been ‘carefully considered’ before the decision

was taken.1

Mr Doogan added that the Crown would continue to decline to con-

sider deeds of mandate from the claimants. He noted the claimants’ re-

quest in their 27 October 2000 précis of issues for the Tribunal to recom-

mend that the Crown ensure that the status and position of the claimants

be properly reëected in any settlement of their claims. His response was

that this was precisely what the Crown had been endeavouring to do
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before the claimants withdrew from their dialogue with the Crown and

the working party and reapplied for urgency. 2

Mr Doogan conårmed that the Crown’s policy is to settle with large nat-

ural groupings, such as iwi, although he explained it to be a preference

rather than a rigid policy. He pointed to paragraph 24 of the 21 August

1997 ots memorandum to its Minister as evidence of the Crown keeping

an open mind on the status of Pakakohi and Tangahoe, for example.

There, ots oïcials had advised the Crown to await the outcome of the tak-

ing of public submissions on the working party’s deed of mandate before

deciding how to deal with Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc.

Mr Doogan also referred to the oïcials’ suggestion at paragraph 16 of

this memorandum, highlighted by Mr Upton, that one option could be to

put the Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc deeds of mandate through the

standard evaluation process to gauge their relative levels of support. The

Tribunal queried him as to whether the Crown intended to disregard

those mandates if they were heavily opposed by Ngati Ruanui submis-

sions or whether it would assess the level of support for them from within

Pakakohi and Tangahoe. Mr Doogan replied that the level of support

should be gauged from within the ‘claimant community’, which he deån-

ed as the descendants of those who suäered the historical grievances. He

agreed that this meant, essentially, that what Ngati Ruanui felt about a

Pakakohi Inc mandate would certainly weigh heavily in the Crown’s

assessment.

Mr Doogan explained that the choice was made to gauge submissions

on the working party’s deed before deciding whether to seek views on

other mandates. He reminded the Tribunal that the working party

claimed in its deed of mandate to represent Pakakohi and Tangahoe in any

event. He conårmed that the Crown ultimately viewed the submissions

process as the best indicator of support. In those submissions, ‘signiåcant’

levels of support for another group would have to be demonstrated for the

Crown to contemplate extra negotiations. This, agreed Mr Doogan, tied in

with the Crown’s preference to negotiate with large groups save in excep-

tional circumstances. Whereas this standard might seem a rather high one

for smaller groups, Mr Doogan stressed that the decisions were never arbi-

trary but always part of a complex political judgement process. The

Crown knew that the decisions would never please everyone, but in this

case it stood by the choices made.
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In response to questions about the Pakakohi boundary split, Mr

Doogan explained that the Ngati Ruanui settlement would encompass the

claims of Pakakohi and Tangahoe except in the case of those who aïliate

to Nga Rauru hapu and marae, whose claims would be settled in the Nga

Rauru negotiations.

Mr Doogan took issue with the claimants’ belated acknowledgement

that their arguments about Ngati Ruanui’s origins were really a ‘distrac-

tion’. He felt that, for a long time, no progress had been possible between

the working party and the Pakakohi and Tangahoe claimants because of

this dogmatic stance. He said that the argument had been so prominent in

the submissions of those groups that it had masked the quality of any

other arguments and had led to the characterisation of the claimants as

‘dissenters’. He said that the attitudes had still been prominent when ur-

gency was reapplied for earlier this year.

He also emphasised that no claimant groups receive money during the

period in which they attempt to gain their mandate from the claimant

community. He stressed that the working party had received no money

from the Crown until its mandate had been recognised, at which point its

costs were reimbursed.

In conclusion, Mr Doogan drew attention to the eäorts that the Crown

had made in recent times to be inclusive and to eäect compromise. He

said, though, that he still did not know where the middle ground lay, as

even Dr Gilling’s point about the lack of credibility in the arguments

about Ngati Ruanui’s origins had not quite been accepted by Messrs

Upton and Horner. In any event, he noted that if agreement between the

parties could not be reached, then a political decision would have to be

made.

4.1.1 Evidence of Andrew Hampton

Mr Doogan called ots manager Andrew Hampton to give evidence in re-

sponse to Dr Gilling.3 Mr Hampton criticised Dr Gilling for placing too

much emphasis on the quality of historical research in the mandate-assess-

ment process. He explained that it would require a ‘clear majority of the

marae, hapu and iwi members that today make up the claimant commu-

nity’ for the Crown to consider negotiating separately with Pakakohi Inc

or Tangahoe Inc, and that this was a matter of careful judgement by
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oïcials and Ministers. As such, it was ‘essentially a policy and a political

process, not one of legal or historical inquiry’.

Mr Hampton argued that the three groups shared the same land, his-

tory, and grievances, and were therefore deåned as a ‘claimant commu-

nity’. In response to questions from the Tribunal as to whether such an ap-

proach would work in the case of, say, Ngati Hine and Ngapuhi, Mr

Hampton responded that it was totally dependent on the reaction of the

particular claimant community. He thought that it was indeed possible for

the claimant community to accept a smaller group settling with the con-

sent of the larger aggregation, as with Ngati Turangitukua and Ngati

Tuwharetoa, but that each circumstance would be diäerent.

Mr Hampton listed the types of factors that went into the assessment of

the working party’s deed of mandate:

. general historical evidence on who suäered the grievance;

. current marae and hapu aïliations;

. the extent to which the whakapapa and history of groups

overlapped;

. how groups were perceived by their neighbours;

. the relative size of groups, in terms of population and rohe;

. relevant Waitangi Tribunal åndings;

. the robustness of the process by which representatives were

appointed;

. the governance policies of the body that is seeking the mandate;

. the level of support for the mandate as expressed through public sub-

missions; and

. additional provisions for the representation of dissenting interests.

The Crown had been suïciently satisåed that the working party åtted the

necessary criteria to recognise its mandate, Mr Hampton said.

Mr Hampton thought that the 306 names on the Pakakohi Inc register

were an indication of a high degree of support amongst those who iden-

tify exclusively as Pakakohi, but not necessarily a reëection of a large level

of support amongst all those who aïliate with Pakakohi. The Tribunal ob-

served that all hapu in the country have members who can whakapapa to

other groups if they so choose. We pointed out our interest in identifying

real communities, not virtual ones on the basis of whakapapa, and we ob-

served that the question remains as to whether there is a current and via-

ble Pakakohi community. Mr Hampton thought not, since Pakakohi over-

lapped too much with other groups. Nor did he think that the distinct
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Pakakohi history – marked, for example, by the incarceration of almost 75

men – was in reality any diäerent from the history of the wider Ngati

Ruanui community.

The Tribunal queried whether the Crown’s classiåcation, as evidenced

by the tpk risk analysis, meant Pakakohi had to be deåned as either an iwi

or a group of dissenters, with no real middle ground. Mr Hampton dis-

agreed and felt that there was a ‘third way’ of active Pakakohi participa-

tion in the working party’s process. He pointed out that opportunities for

this had been aäorded Pakakohi but had not been taken up. Nor did Mr

Hampton agree that Pakakohi should have some form of separate status

in the negotiations on the basis that their historical grievances (such as

the incarceration of the Pakakohi men) seemed to give the Ngati Ruanui

claim much of its moral underpinning. He felt that these experiences were

no diäerent from that of the wider Ngati Ruanui community. He thought

that, in future, direct Pakakohi representation on the governance struc-

ture to receive the Ngati Ruanui settlement was a possibility, as long as

such representation was properly accountable to the claimant community.

Mr Hampton also circulated a chronology that set out the major steps

the Crown took in recognising the working party’s deed of mandate.4 In

the chronology, Mr Hampton noted that the Cabinet Strategy Committee

agreed to recognise the deed of mandate on 6 April 1998, and that ‘Minis-

ters made [the] decision in [the] full awareness that Tangahoe and

Pakakohi [were] likely to submit their own Deeds of Mandate’. Further-

more, the strategy committee inserted an ‘additional recommendation [to

Cabinet] noting that they [did] not intend to negotiate separately with

Tangahoe and Pakakohi’. When questioned by the Tribunal as to whether

the Ministers had made a decision which went beyond the advice given to

them by oïcials, Mr Hampton agreed that this was the case, although he

added that the decision was still in line with ots thinking. He added that

Ministers felt that suïcient information had been gained from the submis-

sions process to be sure of their decision.

Mr Hampton believed that it had been suïcient, when seeking re-

sponses from Maori, to rely upon the receipt of written submissions. He

made the point that the submissions had followed a lengthy series of hui,

albeit conducted by the working party. Mr Hampton also stressed that the

Crown’s refusal to test the Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc mandates was

not the closing of a door to those groups: from that point, the focus turned

to how best to accommodate them within the working party’s process.
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The Tribunal questioned him on whether representation by marae, rather

than hapu, was appropriate in an area where the population had been so

displaced and then mixed together after the raupatu. We observed that

there remained some communities that did not neatly åt with marae com-

munities. Others did åt, such as that at Manutahi Marae, but had not par-

ticipated in the working party’s process. Mr Hampton said that these were

matters of concern but were not suïciently problematic to warrant the

mandate being revisited.

4.1.2 Evidence of Hauraki Greenland

Mr Doogan also called Hauraki Greenland, a Treaty settlements policy

manager at tpk, to give further evidence in response to Dr Gilling.5 Mr

Greenland disputed Dr Gilling’s criticisms and made the point that tpk

had not been attempting to undertake a historical analysis.

The Tribunal questioned Mr Greenland as to whether tpk had ever con-

sidered that there might be some distinction between Pakakohi and

Tangahoe. The two were usually grouped together in the tpk risk analysis

under such headings as ‘Tangahoe and Pakakohi’s argument’ and ‘Inter-

pretation of Tangahoe and Pakakohi’s position’. Mr Greenland recog-

nised that they were distinct, but he did not suggest by his answer that con-

sideration had been given to any features that might distinguish the two

groups’ challenges to the working party’s mandate.

The Tribunal also questioned Mr Greenland about the wording on

page 3 of the risk analysis, where tpk had considered that Pakakohi and

Tangahoe should approach the Crown ‘in conjunction with’ Ngati

Ruanui, rather than as ‘part of ’ them. Mr Greenland agreed that this refer-

ence could indeed be regarded as an early recognition by tpk of a poten-

tial ‘third way’, with the parties working together in a distinct yet equal ca-

pacity. Mr Greenland could not recall why in the next paragraph Pakakohi

and Tangahoe came to be described as ‘dissenting interests’, but he added

that they were in fact both dissenting and conjoint interests.

4.2 The Working Party’s Case

Counsel for the working party, Chris Hall, made the following main

points:
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. the Pakakohi and Tangahoe claimants had continued to make insult-

ing allegations about Ngati Ruanui’s origins, and the Crown’s assess-

ment of their submissions on the working party’s mandate should be

seen in those terms;

. Pakakohi and Tangahoe representation on the working party had al-

ways been provided for;

. the claimants did not represent Pakakohi and Tangahoe, but were dis-

sident elements within those groups; and

. the mandate registers and documents prepared by the Pakakohi and

Tangahoe claimants were unconvincing.

Mr Hall aïrmed his clients’ support of the Crown’s decision to recog-

nise the working party’s deed of mandate as properly representing those

who identify as Pakakohi and Tangahoe. He denied that the Tangahoe and

Pakakohi claimants would suäer any prejudice as a result of the Crown

and the working party signing a deed of settlement, and argued that:

Neither the relief claimed, nor any other relief should be granted to

the claimants. Their claims are properly being dealt with as part of the

Ngati Ruanui claimant community by the Working Party.6

Mr Hall made the point that, until very recently, a signiåcant aspect of

the Wai 758 and Wai 142 cases had been that Ngati Ruanui were a Pakeha

construct. While the claimants now seemed to be resiling from this, signiå-

cant oäence had already been caused. Mr Hall ventured that it was impos-

sible to ignore the fact that the Crown made its decisions in 1998 on the

strength of the Pakakohi and Tangahoe claims as they were then framed,

not as they were now being put forward.

Mr Hall also made the point that positions at the working party table

had always been available for Pakakohi and Tangahoe. He justiåed this by

saying that Wai 758 and Wai 142 were claims not of Pakakohi and

Tangahoe but of some members of those groups. The majority of

Pakakohi and Tangahoe, he said, supported the working party’s mandate.

To this end, he pointed to the working party representatives who could af-

åliate with the two groups.

Mr Hall went on to stress that Dr Gilling had all but overlooked the hui

before the working party’s mandate was submitted, as well as the submis-

sions process which followed its receipt. He noted that the minutes of the

Pakakohi meeting in the Patea Old Folks Hall recorded that Mrs Parker

had encouraged those in attendance to make submissions to ots but that
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only three were presented on behalf of Pakakohi. He also felt that the

Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc lists were of no great moment. The

Tangahoe Inc list – which he thought was simply a list of persons who

could aïliate with Tangahoe – contained names of members of the work-

ing party and even, he said, one individual who had been dead for 40

years. As mentioned above, this claim was later disputed by Mrs Bublitz.

Mr Hall calculated the Pakakohi list to have been compiled åve years ago,

judging by the ages recorded next to people’s names. He observed that

one person on that list was a member of the Nga Rauru working party,

while another nine people were individuals who had ‘registered’ in sup-

port of the Ngati Ruanui settlement of Pakakohi and Tangahoe claims. In

sum, he said, the lists were simply not what they had been claimed to be:

namely, lists of people supporting separate negotiations for Pakakohi Inc

and Tangahoe Inc.

Mr Hall did not feel it incumbent upon the Crown to coach claimant

groups in the preparation of their mandates, and he thought that the

Crown could be excused for not acting on the Tangahoe Inc list since it

would not have known what to make of it. He argued that the Crown, in

any event, had quite enough information upon which to make its decision.

He felt that, at a certain point, the Crown was obliged to stop the mandate

analysis process and make a årm decision, lest matters drag on

indeånitely.

In response to questions from the Tribunal as to whether he saw the

Pakakohi and Tangahoe claimants as dissidents within Ngati Ruanui or

dissidents within Pakakohi and Tangahoe, Mr Hall thought they were the

latter, describing them as a ‘subset within a subset’. He said that the evi-

dence for this conclusion was the nature of the submissions of both

groups on the working party’s deed of mandate. In response to concerns

that the consultation hui before the submissions process had focused on

selecting marae rather than hapu representatives – which in theory might

disadvantage a group such as Pakakohi whose people were dispersed

around the marae of other hapu – he said rather that the basis had in fact

been hapu by hapu at marae. He then stated that Manutahi Marae had not

in fact broken away but that its status simply remained unresolved.

Mr Hall explained that the statements by Martin Edwards and Te

Huirangi Waikerepuru had been made by people who had once actively

supported the working party but had fallen out politically with the rest of

the membership. He felt that their support for the Tangahoe claim should
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be seen strictly in those terms and that their erstwhile support for the

working party was a reminder of the fact that the working party encom-

passed members of Pakakohi and Tangahoe. We sought conårmation

from Mr Hall as to which hapu claimed by Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe

Inc were in fact represented on the working party. He produced in re-

sponse a table showing the Pakakohi and Tangahoe connections of all the

Ngati Ruanui hapu and marae, as well as a table showing the hapu and ma-

rae aïliations of all current members of the working party.7 These docu-

ments drew criticisms from counsel for Tangahoe Inc, which we have

noted above.

Mr Hall summarised the situation in this way: counsel for the Tangahoe

claimants had asked for recognition and involvement, and both of these

had been provided. Pakakohi Inc had indeed been oäered a seat at the ta-

ble, but that oäer had not been responded to for a whole year. Then

Pakakohi Inc had come back with an unacceptable request for two seats,

and so the oäer had then been withdrawn. The essential thing, he said,

was that Pakakohi and Tangahoe were represented on the working party

and, more to the point, the working party had made a series of recent con-

cessions to Pakakohi Inc. His clients were, he said, already occupying the

middle ground.

Mr Hall accepted that Pakakohi had a distinct history and tradition

from Ngati Ruanui, but denied that this tradition or history was a separate

one. He concluded by stating that the only new pieces of evidence pro-

duced at the hearing to show that Pakakohi and Tangahoe did not support

the working party were the two lists. These, he argued, established neither

mandate nor support. He asserted that the working party still enjoyed the

mandate and that it was time that this was recognised and that the settle-

ment of the claim was allowed to proceed.

In response to questions from the Tribunal, David Tapsell, who also rep-

resented the working party, explained the relationship of the working

party to the Ngati Ruanui Tahua in light of the allegations of Mr

Kahukuranui that the two organisations were closely connected. He stated

that the two bodies were quite separate entities and that the tahua had not

interfered in the working party’s selection process. However, he did con-

cede that some ånancial and other assistance was made available by the

tahua to the working party to assist it to obtain its tribal mandate.
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5. ANALYSIS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 The Nature of the Tribunal’s Role

By the terms of section 6 of the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975, any Maori can

åle a claim that he or she is likely to be prejudicially aäected by any policy

or practice adopted by or on behalf of the Crown which is inconsistent

with the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi. In this case, the claimants re-

ject any claim by the working party to have a mandate to represent mem-

bers of the kin groups known as Tangahoe and Pakakohi in settling their

historical claims. Accordingly, they claim that the Crown’s policy that it

will not settle separately the Tangahoe and Pakakohi claims prejudicially

aäects them and is in breach of the principles of the Treaty. The Treaty

principles relied on by the claimants were not elaborated on in their argu-

ments. The very nature of their complaints made plain to the Tribunal,

however, that the relevant principles are those guaranteeing rangatira-

tanga to Maori groups in the conduct of their own aäairs, requiring the

Crown and Maori to act reasonably and with absolute good faith towards

one another, and enjoining the creation of fresh grievances from the treat-

ment of historical claims.

Whether the claimants’ allegations are able to be made out is a question

which will be addressed shortly. First, however, we were surprised that no

party sought to argue the more fundamental question of whether the

Waitangi Tribunal could or should deal with these forms of dispute at all.

Although the claims are technically aimed at the Crown, they mask what

is essentially an internal dispute between closely related kin groups as to

which organisation at which level speaks for them. The Tribunal was not

established to deal with these categories of dispute. That role has to some

extent been the traditional preserve of the Maori Land Court since 1865. It

has been more expressly so since the enactment of section 30 of the Te

Ture Whenua Maori Act 1993. By the terms of that section, it is left to a

judge of the Maori Land Court and two assessors to identify representa-

tives of kin groups in dispute for the purpose of any ‘negotiations, consul-

tations, allocation, or other matter’. By contrast, our jurisdiction requires

us to focus on decisions of the Crown. In these claims, in order to meet

that jurisdictional requirement it may be seen that the Crown is the pri-

mary ‘respondent’. The working party is the true respondent, yet is
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relegated to the status of an interested third party seeking leave to appear.

There is, therefore, an air of artiåciality about claims of this nature being

advanced in this Tribunal.

In the result, although the matter was not argued before us, we ånd that

we have jurisdiction to inquire into the claim. We consider however that

the constraints on our jurisdiction, requiring us as it does to focus on

Crown action, mean that we should tread very carefully.

It was partly for this reason that Chief Judge Williams referred the dis-

pute to mediation under clause 9a of the second schedule to the Act (see

s1.17). It was hoped by this means that Ngati Ruanui, Tangahoe, and

Pakakohi would come together and collectively resolve who their spokes-

people should be, for if the people themselves are unable to decide this

most important of matters, there is little hope for any other body or per-

son to be able to do it for them. In this dispute, Tribunal-facilitated media-

tion did not produce complete agreement despite genuine eäorts on both

sides. That is a matter for considerable regret. However, we should not

overlook the fact that the mediation process was successful in bringing

the parties together, in commencing productive dialogue and then ulti-

mately narrowing the gap between their diäerent perspectives. Had it not

been for that mediation, we rather suspect that the hearing itself would

have taken on a diäerent, and less helpful character.

It follows from the foregoing that we are clear as to what the Tribunal’s

role is not in the context of claims of this nature. It is not the role of this Tri-

bunal in investigating claims of this nature to substitute its own view of

matters, for that arrived at by the Crown and the working party. There can

be no room for second-guessing matters in decisions as delicate and fun-

damentally political as those relating to the recognition of mandate for the

purpose of Treaty settlements. While the context of judicial review pro-

ceedings is signiåcantly diäerent to claims under section 6 of our Act, the

principle of extreme caution which we instinctively adopt here, is echoed

in High Court decisions. Thus, in Kai Tohu Tohu o Puketapu Hapu Inc v At-

torney-General, Doogue J noted that ‘The claims are claims entertained

by the Crown as part of a political process and not part of a legal process’.1

Similarly, Hammond J in Greensill v Tainui Maori Trust Board considered

‘to intervene now would be an outright interference in what is nothing

more or less than an ongoing political process as opposed to a distinct

matter of law’.2 A number of other cases have expressed the same senti-

ment.3 Accordingly, although the jurisdiction of the Tribunal is not
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circumscribed within the relatively narrow discipline of judicial review,

there are a number of important considerations which militate against the

Tribunal interfering in mandate decisions except in clear cases of error in

process, misapplication of tikanga Maori, or apparent irrationality. These

considerations include the political nature of the decisionmaking under

challenge, the artiåciality of treating internal disputes as if they were dis-

putes against the Crown, and the inherent diïculty of the subject matter.

5.2 The Test We Adopted

With the foregoing in mind, we posed for ourselves a four-part test to de-

termine whether the claims by Pakakohi or Tangahoe or both were well

founded. The four-part test is as follows:

1. Does tikanga or early colonial history (or both) recognise Pakakohi

or Tangahoe (or both) as a cultural and political entity distinct from

Ngati Ruanui?

2. Do Pakakohi or Tangahoe (or both) have claims which are distinct

from those of Ngati Ruanui? From this question, we sought to dis-

cern whether there was a prima facie argument in favour of Pakakohi

and Tangahoe each being entitled to a separate settlement.

Questions 1 and 2 were posed as threshold tests – that is, as tests which

allowed us to go on to consider the latter-day circumstances of either or

both of the two kin groups in question. If the answers to 1 and 2 were yes

in the case of either kin group, we had then to ask whether the evidence of

the expressed will of the descendants of Pakakohi and Tangahoe today

was such as to suggest that there may be signiåcant support for separate or

diäerent treatment. Thus, the third question:

3. Is there suïcient evidence of support for a separate settlement in fa-

vour of Pakakohi Inc or Tangahoe Inc (or both) to warrant the Tribu-

nal taking a hard look at the Crown’s handling of the Ngati Ruanui

working party mandating process?

4. If there is suïcient evidence to warrant a ‘hard look’ at the matter,

were there ëaws in the Crown’s handling of that matter of suïcient

severity to warrant the Tribunal considering that the Crown’s accep-

tance of the working party’s mandate to settle on behalf of Pakakohi

or Tangahoe (or both) is unsafe?
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In short, we needed to be satisåed that Pakakohi or Tangahoe (or both)

had credibility in terms of tikanga, claims in their own right, and suï-

cient evidence of modern support to allow the Tribunal to question the

conclusion that the claimants were a mere dissenting minority of those

two kin groups. If those three tests were able to be satisåed, then the Tribu-

nal would be in our view entitled to inquire into the integrity of the deci-

sion-making process undertaken on behalf of the Crown. Were relevant

matters properly taken into account? Were irrelevant matters set to one

side? Was the process fair given the nature of the decision and the circum-

stances of the parties?

5.3 Question 1

Does tikanga or early colonial history (or both) recognise Pakakohi or

Tangahoe (or both) as a cultural and political entity distinct from Ngati

Ruanui?

This Tribunal did not undertake an extensive examination of this matter,

and nor was it appropriate for us to do so. On the limited evidence avail-

able to us, we would come to the same conclusion reached in the Taranaki

report, where the ‘distinctive tradition’ of Pakakohi and Tangahoe was re-

cognised.4 They were certainly recognised as such by Pakeha observers of

the time. In addition, both claimant groups presented evidence to the Tri-

bunal on their traditional cultural identity (and indeed did so before the

Taranaki Tribunal at a hearing in 1992).

For Pakakohi Inc this evidence included the emphatic position adopted

by Mr Kahukuranui that Pakakohi whakapapa predated the arrival of the

Aotea waka from whence came the primary descent line of Ngati Ruanui.

Pakakohi was said to descend from Maruiwi and Paewhenua. He pointed

to the diäering names for landmarks within the rohe of Pakakohi includ-

ing Taranaki maunga, the name for which, according to Mr Kahukuranui,

in Pakakohi tradition is Pukehaupapa. Similarly, according to Pakakohi

tradition, said Mr Kahukuranui, the Patea River was known as Tai Kehu.

Pakakohi the ancestor was said to have come from the East Coast area and

not from the Turi lines of Aotea Waka. There are of course many tradi-

tional examples of kin groups with no direct whakapapa connection to
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larger neighbouring iwi, eventually coming to regard themselves as hapu

of that iwi. But these considerations taken together establish a sound

prima facie case for Pakakohi as a distinct cultural entity in pre-colonial

and colonial times. That is suïcient for our purposes.

On the working party side, no challenge was oäered to these argu-

ments. Instead, the working party placed much greater emphasis on evi-

dence which tended to suggest that Pakakohi was a hapu of Ngati Ruanui.

The documentation referred to in the working party’s response to the

Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc submissions on its deed of mandate

tended to emphasise this.5

For our part, we have found little help in analysing whether Pakakohi

were a hapu of Ngati Ruanui or not. The picture seems rather more compli-

cated than that. In traditional times, Pakakohi appear to have been an ag-

gregation of hapu in their own right. The hapu generally accepted to be

still within the Pakakohi karangatanga or calling are Ngati Ringi, Ngati

Hine (including Nga Ariki and various other subordinate groups), Ngati

Takou, and Ngati Tupito, although we note that such a list is a reëection of

the major hapu identities today and not an exhaustive list of Pakakohi

hapu over time.

We did not receive quite the same evidence from Tangahoe Inc on dis-

tinctive Tangahoe place names and descent lines, although some whaka-

papa were proäered in support of the proposition that Tangahoe were a

distinct entity. We note in any event that Tangahoe were clearly recognised

as a political entity by various Pakeha observers in the nineteenth century,

and that Tangahoe, as well, were traditionally an aggregation of hapu in its

own right. Again, from our contemporary knowledge, we understand

these hapu today to be Hamua, Hapotiki, Ngati Tupaia, Ngati Tanewai,

and Ngati Hawe.

It seems clear enough on the evidence that the relationship between

Ngati Ruanui and Pakakohi and Tangahoe has for some considerable time

now been ambiguous. It is suïcient for our purposes to conclude that

both Pakakohi’s and Tangahoe’s cultural identity has been and remains

distinctive but is today very closely related to that of Ngati Ruanui.

We would therefore answer the årst question ‘yes’ for both Pakakohi

and Tangahoe.
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5.4 Question 2

Do Pakakohi or Tangahoe (or both) have claims which are distinct from

those of Ngati Ruanui?

For Pakakohi, Mr Kahukuranui deposed as follows:

On 14 June 1869, 233 men, women and children were incarcerated in a

makeshift camp at Patea for 2 months, while Parliament debated what to

do with them. After signiåcant debate, 96 Pakakohi men were sent to

Wellington and tried for treason. The women were left at Putiki Pa in

Wanganui. Seventy four of the men were found guilty, including our

tupuna and chief of our people Ngawakataurua. These men were sen-

tenced to death. Indeed, I understand the initial sentence for them was

that they were to be hung, drawn and quartered. The death sentence was

later commuted to imprisonment. Two men died while awaiting sen-

tence. A further eighteen died before they were released. The rest spent

three years incarcerated in appalling conditions. On their release from

Dunedin they were forced to spend another year in custody in

Wellington and when they left Wellington they found their lands had

been conåscated and they were prevented from returning to their

homes. Grants of land were not made to Pakakohi until the 1880’s and

these were simply pathetic.6

The record makes it clear that the incarceration, trial, and conåscation

suäered by these people was suäered as ‘Pakakohi’, even though all could

whakapapa to Ngati Ruanui as well. We would observe that much of the

moral force of the Ngati Ruanui claim is drawn from these events. Ngati

Ruanui is clearly able in accordance with tikanga Maori to embrace the

Pakakohi claim. Intimately linked whakapapa lines make that possible.

On the other hand, we are mindful that if the question were asked, ‘could

the Pakakohi claim be considered to have its own factual matrix and raise

its own distinctive issues?’, the answer would plainly be yes. It follows that

Pakakohi do have claims which are distinct from those of Ngati Ruanui

even if it could not be said that they were separate. The point is rather that

those claims have a clear historical credibility of their own and the tradi-

tion about those claims is carried by Pakakohi without being submerged

in the larger Ngati Ruanui claim.

In respect of Pakakohi, therefore, we would answer the second question

‘yes’.
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As to Tangahoe, our perspective is diäerent. The original Tangahoe

claim seems to have gained its impetus from the discredited notion that

Ngati Ruanui do not exist. Until relatively recently, this remained the

claimants’ strongest case for a separate history. In the context of these hear-

ings, that claim was softened considerably if not ånally withdrawn. This

left little else for the claimants to assert which marked their raupatu experi-

ence as distinct from that of the wider Ngati Ruanui tribal group. We note

in the claimants’ amended statement of claim of 17 November 1995 there is

little assertion of a Tangahoe experience during the raupatu and its after-

math which is signiåcantly distinct from that of neighbouring Ngati

Ruanui groups.7

The only factor which may support Tangahoe Inc in this respect is that

there has been little research speciåcally carried out on the possibility of

distinctive claims of Tangahoe. The best we can say in favour of the claim-

ants, therefore, is that we do not know categorically that their claim is a dis-

tinct one from that of Ngati Ruanui. It was open to the Tangahoe claim-

ants to provide such evidence, even in summary or preliminary form, at

the hearing. They did not. We conclude therefore that on the evidence be-

fore us and from our own knowledge of these matters, we ånd that propo-

sition inherently unlikely.

At that point, the claim of Tangahoe Inc must fail, for if it cannot estab-

lish claims distinct from those of the wider Ngati Ruanui claim, there is no

foundation upon which to build a separate settlement.

For the sake of completeness, however, we propose to comment gener-

ally on our impressions of the modern level of support for a separate

Tangahoe settlement under question 3 below.

5.5 Question 3

Is there suïcient evidence of support for a separate settlement in favour of

Pakakohi Inc or Tangahoe Inc (or both) to warrant the Tribunal taking a

hard look at the Crown’s handling of the Ngati Ruanui working party man-

dating process?

It is convenient to deal with the question of Tangahoe Inc årst. In short, we

do not believe that the hapu belonging to Tangahoe have shown suïcient

support for a separate Tangahoe settlement. The evidence suggests
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strongly that the Tangahoe claim has been driven by a small number of

people who deny Ngati Ruanui’s existence, and who more lately have gain-

ed support from those who have fallen out politically with the rest of the

working party. Indeed, Mrs Bublitz seems to have had strong connections

with the Ngati Ruanui leadership herself before falling out with the tahua

and åling her Wai 142 claim in 1990. More lately, Te Huirangi Waikerepuru

has expressed support for the Tangahoe claimants after being replaced as

working party coordinator. Submissions from Tangahoe in respect of the

working party’s deed of mandate were essentially from the same small

number of individuals. The recurring objection seems to have been that

Ngati Ruanui were created by the Crown in the nineteenth century.

Nor was there strong evidence that Tangahoe Inc had undertaken

proper mandate preparation. Claimant counsel at årst suggested that the

Tangahoe register of names had been compiled for these purposes but

later stepped back from this. The register appeared to have been no more

than a list of those who can aïliate with Tangahoe, and Mrs Bublitz con-

årmed as much in her second aïdavit. Of more interest for our purposes

was the apparent mail-out of 1000 forms some time prior to May 1997 ask-

ing Tangahoe aïliates whether they supported separate negotiations for

Tangahoe Inc. We heard from Mrs Bublitz that 91 positive responses had

been received. We consider that level of support to be insuïcient to jus-

tify the ‘hard look’ called for in the third question unless there was other

evidence to suggest that the 91 returns were indicative of a broader or

more persistently expressed viewpoint. We may, for example, have felt dif-

ferently if those returns were underpinned by a consistent refusal of

Tangahoe marae and hapu to participate in the working party process. In

fact, the åve hapu which make up Tangahoe all elected marae delegates to

represent the hapu on the working party at the consultation hui held at var-

ious Tangahoe marae in 1996 and 1997. We set out the details below:

. Wharepuni Marae, 15 December 1996: two Ngati Tanewai and two

Ngati Tupaia delegates elected.

. Taiporohenui Marae, 25 May 1997: two Hapotiki and two Hamua del-

egates elected.

. Ngatiki Marae (and it appears that representation at that marae re-

mains a matter of controversy), 22 June 1997: two Ngati Hawe dele-

gates elected.

Waveney Stephens disputed the process by which the mandate had

been achieved at Ngatiki Marae. But we do not consider the level of
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support for a separate Tangahoe settlement at this marae to be suïcient

to tip the balance.

We conclude, therefore, that, on the evidence, there was a sound basis

for the Crown’s conclusion that Tangahoe Inc was merely a dissenting mi-

nority of the wider Tangahoe people and that the Tangahoe majority

opted to work within the working party. We hasten to add that we do not

say that the Crown’s conclusion is necessarily correct. We simply say that

it was a reasonable conclusion to reach on the evidence. The result is we

cannot point to any error in the process by which the Crown assessed

Tangahoe support for the working party or any misapplication of tikanga

Maori in that respect. Neither have the claimants established any apparent

irrationality in the Crown’s choice.

In respect of Pakakohi, the working party pointed årst to the compre-

hensive consultation process that led to the selection of working party

members. They argued that the working party’s mandate was a ‘bottom

up’ process involving marae and hapu at the ëax roots of Ngati Ruanui, in-

cluding Pakakohi. They argued that most working party members could

aïliate to Pakakohi and eäectively represent their interests. It followed, in

the working party’s view, that Pakakohi Inc represented only a dissenting

minority of Pakakohi people.

Mr Upton for Pakakohi Inc argued that it had a list of 306 members

who must have registered on the understanding that Pakakohi Inc would

represent them in any settlement. Mr Johnston later conceded that the reg-

ister was no claim to mandate but part of the general evidence that should

have prompted the Crown to take the opportunity to assess the Pakakohi

Inc mandate. In addition, we were advised that Pakakohi Inc held three

mandating hui in order to garner support for a separate Pakakohi settle-

ment. One hui was held in Levin in March 1997 and another in Gisborne

in May 1997, both prior to the commencement of the working party’s deed

of mandate submissions process. A third hui was held in Patea in Novem-

ber 1997. We were supplied with minutes and attendance lists in respect of

these hui. The minutes disclosed limited rather than substantial support

for Pakakohi Inc’s position. The attendance lists showed that 12 attended

the Levin hui, 42 the Gisborne hui, and 34 the ånal Patea hui.

Throughout the hearing, Pakakohi Inc claimed that Manutahi Marae

was the only truly Pakakohi marae that remained from the pre-raupatu

complement. Manutahi has refused to take up either position on the work-

ing party.8 As a result, we were at årst attracted by the proposition that
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Manutahi’s stance was corroborative evidence of a desire of Pakakohi as a

whole to stand apart from the working party’s negotiations. On reëection,

however, an analysis of the Ngati Ruanui marae and hapu has caused us to

question the validity of that assessment. As presently situated Ngati

Ruanui ‘the iwi’ has as many as 10 marae.9 This includes Whenuakura and

Wai-o-Turi of the hapu Pamutanga and Rangitawhi, which have chosen to

stand with Nga Rauru in their settlement negotiations. It also includes

Ngarongo Marae and its hapu Araukuku, which has chosen to go with

Nga Ruahine. There is also Whakaahurangi, which as we understand it is

an ‘urban marae’ of more recent origin in Stratford. That leaves six.

It would be helpful if we set out our understanding of the hapu aïli-

ation of the remaining six marae, and whether they have chosen to stand

with the working party or not:

Marae Hapu Designation Allegiance

Wharepuni Ngati Tanewai

Ngati Tupaia

Tangahoe Working party

Taiporohenui Hamua

Hapotiki

Tangahoe Working party

Ngatiki Ngati Hawe Tangahoe Working party

Meremere Ngati Hine

Nga Ariki

Pakakohi Working party

Pariroa Ngati Tupito

Ngati Hine

Ngati Ringi

Pakakohi Working party

Manutahi Ngati Takou Pakakohi Pakakohi Inc

We should qualify the above by acknowledging that the decision of

Ngati Hawe at Ngatiki to align with the working party has been the sub-

ject of controversy. This has caused the Crown to oäer an additional place

on the working party to a representative of that marae. Nevertheless, the

table reveals that all hapu electing delegates to the working party are in

fact hapu of either Pakakohi or Tangahoe. Setting aside Nga Ruahine and

the hapu which have chosen to go with Nga Rauru, we were not made

aware of any others. It appears, therefore, that one part of Ngati Ruanui

springs from a Pakakohi tradition and the other part from a Tangahoe tra-

dition. It is now very diïcult to distinguish between Pakakohi, Tangahoe,

and Ngati Ruanui. The experience of the working party’s mandating pro-

cess may well indicate that the once distinct strands have now merged.
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We caution that we are not in a position to reach a concluded view on

the matter. It was not our purpose to do so. What we can say is that the evi-

dence challenging the foregoing analysis (namely, the Pakakohi Inc regis-

ter and the three Pakakohi Inc mandating hui) was at best equivocal.

Pakakohi Inc argued that a marae-based mandating system was un-

fairly prejudicial to Pakakohi because so many of its marae had been laid

waste during the wars of the 1860s. We can see the force in that argument.

To substantiate it, however, it was incumbent upon Pakakohi Inc to ad-

duce prima facie evidence of a ground swell of non-marae based support

for its decision to stand apart. The evidence did not show this, even in a

prima facie way. The Pakakohi register of 306 names was ultimately not

contended to be a list of those supporting separate negotiations for

Pakakohi Inc. A more relevant tally was the total of 88 people attending

the three Pakakohi mandating hui in 1997, but an inspection of the atten-

dance lists for those hui reveals that several persons attended more than

one meeting and that the actual number attending overall was 78. Further-

more, the extent to which the register is not a mandate document is re-

vealed by the fact that, by our estimation, fewer than 30 names out of the

306 appear amongst the lists of those attending the mandating hui.

That leaves Ngati Takou hapu and Manutahi Marae. The question, then,

is whether the stance taken by them is enough for this Tribunal to con-

clude that there was suïcient evidence of support for a settlement with

Pakakohi Inc to warrant us taking a hard look at the Crown’s handling of

the working party’s mandating process. While considering this, we have

borne in mind also the Crown’s preference to settle with iwi or ‘large natu-

ral groupings’. This is an approach with which we have considerable sym-

pathy. There appear to us to be sound practical and policy reasons for set-

tling at iwi or hapu aggregation level where that is at all possible. As the

Whanganui River Tribunal put it, ‘While Maori custom generally favours

autonomy, it also recognises that, on occasion, the hapu must operate

collectively’.10

We also commend the ‘bottom up’ process undertaken by the working

party to hui with the marae and hapu within the Ngati Ruanui rohe and to

generate ëax roots support for its mandate. While there has been a deal of

criticism about this approach, we consider as a general principle that a

conjoint marae and hapu approach to mandating as adopted by the work-

ing party for its particular circumstances is fundamentally sound. The

[65]

Analysis and Recommendations 5.5

10. Waitangi Tribunal, The
Whanganui River Report, Wellington,
GP Publications, 1999, p 13



decision of the Maori Land Court In re Tararua District Council is instruc-

tive on the point.11 In that case, the court held that it ‘should look to local

marae in matters of customary authority’, and that ‘Whilst there may [be]

reasons as to why some claimants have been historically unable to main-

tain marae in our view customary authority ånds its ånest expression on

marae’.12

When seen in this light, the position taken by Ngati Takou as one of sev-

eral Pakakohi hapu and Manutahi Marae as one of three Pakakohi marae

is simply not suïcient to prevent the Ngati Ruanui settlement.

In the result, we would answer question 3 for both sets of claimants in

the negative. There is no need therefore to proceed to question 4.

Before concluding, we acknowledge that our position diäers from the

tentative conclusions reached by the Taranaki Tribunal about the claimant

groups. That Tribunal hoped that it would not be necessary for it to rule

deånitively on the status of the hapu in order for the raupatu claims before

it to be settled. Unfortunately, that was not to be, and this Tribunal has

been required to consider the mandate issue squarely and on the basis of

direct argument and evidence.

5.6 Conclusion

Although the evidence has not been suïcient to satisfy us that the man-

date decisions regarding Pakakohi and Tangahoe were unsafe, we none

the less believe that the Pakakohi and Tangahoe traditions must be fac-

tored into the settlement deed. Were they not, there would be a danger

that the Pakakohi and Tangahoe identities would be written out of Tara-

naki history. That, were it to happen, would create a fresh grievance out of

the settlement of an old one.

For this reason, we think it crucial that the discussions begun during

the mediation should continue, although now in light of the conclusions

we have reached. They should continue in order to ensure that the integ-

rity of the Pakakohi and Tangahoe traditions is maintained in the settle-

ment between the working party and the Crown. While the evidence has

not shown that Pakakohi Inc and Tangahoe Inc have a mandate to repre-

sent Pakakohi and Tangahoe respectively, it is clear in our view that these

two organisations have for many years been the standard bearers for those

traditions. We are considerably heartened by the indication from ots that
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a number of the proposals advanced by the claimants would be included

in the deed of settlement. We think that more should be done. For exam-

ple, we think that more work is needed on the phrases used in the deed of

settlement that refer to the interrelationships between Ngati Ruanui and

Pakakohi and Tangahoe. Similarly, there is room to better acknowledge in

the recitals or other provisions of the deed the contribution of Pakakohi

and Tangahoe tradition to the Ruanui identity. In addition, we consider

that the issue of distinct representation for Pakakohi and Tangahoe on the

post-deed governance structure is not necessarily closed. It may well be

that there remains an argument in favour of including speciåcally desig-

nated representatives for them. That remains to be discussed between the

various parties in the light of our conclusions, and we think it inappropri-

ate to express any further view on the point.

In the end, for the reasons set out, we are not prepared to recommend a

halt to the settlement. Nor are we prepared formally to recommend that

the approach to settlement adopted by the Crown and the working party

should be changed. We consider, however, that discussions along the lines

mentioned above should continue, both before and after the deed of settle-

ment is signed.

Heoi ano enei whakaaro o matou kei nga rangatira, kei nga hapu, kei nga

iwi, kei nga kaimahi a te Karauna. He mea whakatakoto ki mua i a koutou i

runga i te ngakau whakaiti, i runga ano hoki i te ngakau aroha.

E ki ana te korero a nga tauheke, ‘He ranga maomao kei te moana e tere

ana, he iwi kei uta. Ma wai e raranga e puta ai ratou ki te whai ao, ki te ao

marama?’ Kotahi tonu te whakautu e nga rangatira.

Ko koutou, ko koutou, ko koutou tonu.

Noreira e tangi tonu ana ki te hunga na ratou i tukutuku mai i nga

taonga ataahua o te ao Maori, hei maramatanga mo tatou katoa. Ratou ki a

ratou, tatou ki a tatou.

Tuturu o whiti whakamaua kia tina.

Hui e, taiki e!
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Dated at this day of 2000

Chief Judge JVWilliams, presiding oïcer

RMaaka, member

JRMorris, member





APPENDIX I. WAI 758 STATEMENT OF CLAIM

In the Waitangi Tribunal

In the Matter of The Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975

and

In The Matter of Te Pakakohi Tribe

and

In the Matter of a claim to the Waitangi Tribunal by

Huia Rei Hayes, retired of Levin, a

member of Te Pakakohi Iwi for and on

behalf of herself and of the members of

Te Runanganui o Te Pakakohi Trust

Incorporated

Statement of Claim in Respect of Te Pakakohi Tribe

Tuesday the 3rd Day of November 1998

The Claimant

1. This claim is lodged by Huia Rei Hayes (‘the Claimant’), of Levin, re-

tired for and on behalf of herself and Te Runanganui oTe Pakakohi Trust

Incorporated (‘Te Pakakohi Trust’):

2. Te Pakakohi Trust represents Te Pakakohi tribe and in particular the de-

scendants of Hoka-o-te-rangi.

3. The Claimant represents Te Pakakohi tribe exercising manawhenua

and manamoana over the area of South Taranaki from the Tangahoe

River in the northwest to the Waitotara River in the southeast, up to the

Matemateonga Ranges.

The Claim

4. The Claimant notes that the Mana and Rangatiratanga of Te Pakakohi

tribe stems from Tangahoe in the north to Waitotara in the south.
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5. This claim particularly relates to a decision by the Crown through its

representative the Oïce of Treaty Settlements on or about 20 April 1998

to:

(a) Recognise the Deed of Mandate of Ngati Ruanui Muru Me Te Raupatu

Working Party for the purpose of Treaty settlement; and

(b) Not enter into separate treaty settlement negotiations with Te

Pakakohi Trust or indeed any groups representing Te Pakakohi

tribe.

6. The Claimant says that Te Pakakohi tribe and Te Pakakohi Trust are or

are likely to be prejudicially aäected by the acts, policies and practices

adopted by or on behalf of the Crown and acts done or omitted by or on

behalf of the Crown, the particulars of which are set out in further detail

in this Statement of Claim.

7. The Claimant further claims that all of the acts, regulations, orders, poli-

cies, practices and actions taken omitted or adopted by or on behalf of the

Crown referred to are and remain inconsistent with the terms and princi-

ples of the Treaty of Waitangi.

Background

8. The Tribunal is aware of Te Pakakohi tribe from claims recently dealt

with in an interim report of the Waitangi Tribunal in relation to the Tara-

naki region The Taranaki Report – Kaupapa Tuatahi (Wai 143). Te Paka-

kohi tribe has separate ancestry and a separate cultural identity from

Ngati Ruanui. Indeed Te Pakakohi tribe has diäerent and separate claims

against the Crown from those of Ngati Ruanui.

9. In July 1997 the Ngati Ruanui Muru Me Te Raupatu Working Party sub-

mitted to the Crown a Deed of Mandate (‘Deed of Mandate’) which pur-

ported to recognise those who identify as Pakakohi in Treaty Settlement

negotiations. Representatives of Te Pakakohi including Te Pakakohi Trust

lodged submissions objecting to the Deed of Mandate.

10. On or about 20 April 1998 the Crown decided to recognise the Deed

of Mandate.

11. In an undated letter, received by the Trust on or about May 1998, the

Right Honourable Douglas Graham, Minister in Charge of Treaty Negotia-

tions, advised the Trust that the Deed of Mandate had been accepted and
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that the Crown was not prepared to enter into separate Treaty settlement

negotiations with Te Pakakohi. A copy of that letter is attached to this

Statement of Claim and marked with the letter ‘a’.*

12. The Crown through the Minister in Charge of Treaty Negotiations

also indicated that they would not accept a Deed of Mandate from Te

Pakakohi Trust.

13. The Crown have since begun negotiations with the Ngati Ruanui

Muru Me Te Raupatu Working Party to the exclusion of Te Pakakohi

Trust.

Crown Treaty Breaches

14. The Crown has failed to ensure that the principles of the Treaty of

Waitangi are adhered to and more particularly including the principle of

recognition. This principle relates to Maori communities and Te Pakakohi

tribe in particular being entitled to identify themselves and to manage

their aäairs in accordance with Maori custom and values.

15. The Crown act of recognising the mandate of Ngati Ruanui Muru Me

Te Raupatu Working Party to the detriment of Te Pakakohi tribe and the

Crown’s omission to enter into separate negotiations with Te Pakakohi

Trust was and is a continuing breach of the principles of the Treaty of

Waitangi.

Prejudicial Effects

16. By virtue of the acts and omissions of the Crown in failing to recog-

nise Pakakohi in its own right around the settlement table, Pakakohi have

suäered and continue to suäer the following prejudicial eäects:

(a) The continued dispossession of their economic, spiritual and cultural

base.

(b) The continued loss of economic independence and prosperity.

(c) The continued destruction of their culture and history.

(d) The very real danger of losing their identity.

(e) A continuation of the previous disenfranchisement suäered by

Pakakohi during the Taranaki wars of the 1860’s.
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(f) A further destruction or erosion of any chance of restoring Pakakohi’s

economic base, social patterns and traditional leadership

structures.

(g) Continued poor health, welfare and education as a result or indirect re-

sult of the Crown’s actions/omissions.

(h) Loss of mana.

Relief Sought

17. The Claimants seek the following recommendations:

(a) A recommendation that any negotiations between Ngati Ruanui and

the Crown that are currently underway which purport to apply to

Pakakohi cease immediately

(b) A recommendation that the Crown negotiate directly with Te

Pakakohi Trust for and on behalf of Te Pakakohi tribe.

(c) A recommendation that the Crown pay the full costs of the Claimants

for the preparation and presentation of this claim.

(d) Any other recommendation as the Tribunal thinks åt.

Leave To Amend

18. The Claimants seek leave to amend this Statement of Claim in light of

research or other material which may become available during the presen-

tation of this claim.

[Signed James Johnston] [4/11/98]

Solicitor for the Claimant Date
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APPENDIX II. WAI 142 STATEMENT OF CLAIM

In the Waitangi Tribunal

In the Matter of The Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975

and

In the Matter of Te Iwi o Tangahoe, Wai 142

and

In the Matter of a further claim by Rita Bublitz, Aroha

Houston, Waveney Stephens for and on

behalf of Te Iwi o Tangahoe

Statement of Claim in Respect of Te Iwi o Tangahoe

the 18th Day of April 2000

The Claimant

1.0 This further claim is lodged by Rita Bublitz, Aroha Houston, Waveney

Stephens (‘the Claimants’), of Hawera, for and on behalf of Te Iwi o

Tangahoe (‘Tangahoe’).

1.1 The Claimants represent Tangahoe the indigenous people, ‘Ko

Tangahoe te Tuakana Ko Ruanui te Teina’ exercising manawhenua and

manamoana over the area of South Taranaki from the Tangahoe River in

the south, to the Waingongoro River in the west and to Waipuku–Patea

and the Maunga in the north.

The Claim

2.0 This claim particularly relates to decisions by the Crown:

2.01 Failing to recognise the indigenous status of Tangahoe and their rela-

tionship to Moriori and recognising the mandate of Ngaati Ruanui Muru

Me Te Raupatu Working Party (Ruanui) in April 1993 as including and rep-

resenting Tangahoe and the claimants in Wai 142 and
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2.02 To enter into a Heads of Agreement dated 7th September 1999 with

Ruanui to settle the claim to this Tribunal by Tangahoe as Wai 142 and

therefore agreeing to wipe out the indigenous status and iwi rights of

Tangahoe and its hapu

3.0 The Claimants say that Tangahoe is or is likely to be prejudicially af-

fected by the acts, policies and practices adopted by or on behalf of the

Crown and acts done or omitted by or on behalf of the Crown, the particu-

lars of which are set out in further detail in this Statement of Claim.

4.0 The Claimants further claim that all of the acts, policies, practices

and actions taken omitted or adopted by or on behalf of the Crown re-

ferred to are and remain inconsistent with the terms and principles of the

Treaty of Waitangi.

Background

5.0 The Origins of Ruanui

5.1 The Claimants remain adamant that historically there has never been

a tangata whenua iwi in South Taranaki known as Ngati Ruanui.

Tangahoe and Pakakohi are the tangata whenua iwi in the area claimed by

Ruanui.

The Claimants believe that those persons styling themselves, Ngati

Ruanui, have subsumed the mana and rangatiratanga of Tangahoe.

5.2 ‘Ruanui’ is an Iwi from North Auckland. The name ‘Ruanui’ like the

name ‘Ngati Awa’ was applied by very early colonists to areas of proposed

settlement in Taranaki. The area in the north was referred to as Ngati Awa

and in the south as Ruanui. Slaves/prisoners of war returned to (inter alia)

southern Taranaki after 1840 under the auspices of the Church Wesleyan

Society, became known as ‘Ruanui’. Some of them were tangata whenua

to Tangahoe; were generally converts to Christianity, and mission edu-

cated. They were aligned to the missionaries and to the Crown and most

stood aside during the land wars.

The people of Tangahoe did not stand aside. They resisted the incursions

of the Crown into their rohe and were thereafter cast as rebels. It is one of

Tangahoe’s tragedies that its people do not know or understand their his-

tory and that the Tribunal has to date not fully accepted it.
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5.3 Ruanui did not have land in South Taranaki prior to the 1882 Dillon

Bell Commission or since that date. Land returned [to] the aboriginal peo-

ple in South Taranaki was returned [to] Tangahoe and their hapu, not

Ruanui. Ruanui remains landless.

5.4 Such was the destruction of Tangahoe; their political and social struc-

ture, economy and culture between 1866 and 1869, that the people came to

identify with Ruanui. Ruanui however, is a product of the Crown and the

colonisation programme, not of the indigenous people.

5.5 Ruanui is not the tangata whenua iwi in the area it claims. Ruanui is

claiming the rohe of the indigenous iwi Tangahoe and Pakakohi.

6.0 Ruanui’s Conflict of Interest

6.1 Ruanui has an inherent conëict of interest in dealing with indigenous

historical interests. Modern Ruanui (the Ngati Ruanui Tahua Iwi Author-

ity ‘the Tahua’) is a service provider to Maori, funded by the Crown; a cli-

ent of the Crown and dependant on the Crown.

6.2 While Ruanui might claim that it is actually separate from the Tahua,

in practice this does not appear to be the case.

Ruanui is based at the Tahua premises in Hawera, shares facilities and per-

sonalities and the cultures of the two organisations are similar.

6.3 Ruanui is, through its origins and by virtue of its modern activities

and statute, a Crown compliant iwi. It is not the appropriate organisation

to negotiate a settlement for the indigenous Tangahoe people of South

Taranaki.

7.0 Failure to Provide Research

The Crown has either:

7.01 Failed to fund the research and documentation required to enable

the Claimants to properly present their case for pre-eminence within their

rohe or;

7.02 Failed to ensure that the funding that was made available for South

Taranaki Iwi claimants to this Tribunal was distributed fairly and ac-

counted for.
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7.1 The Claimants have not received any funding or research support out-

side of Tangahoe. They have researched and presented evidence at the Tri-

bunal hearings of the Taranaki Claim since 1990 on their own.

The Claimants are mindful that legal counsel from Halliwells has since

1990 been provided at no cost.

7.2 The Claimants believe that substantial funding for Waitangi Tribunal

Claims was made available to Taranaki Iwi Claimants through the Tara-

naki Maori Trust Board and directly to Ruanui. None of this funding has

been available to the Claimants. Given the culture of the Taranaki Maori

Trust Board and of Ruanui, and Ruanui’s conëict of interest, this was ex-

pected. It is however a travesty of justice, and perpetuates the peoples’ ig-

norance of their true history and the Crown’s acceptance of that history.

8.0 Failure to Negotiate with Tangahoe

8.1 Notwithstanding the recognition by this Tribunal of Tangahoe in The

Taranaki Report: Kaupapa Tuatahi dated 30th April 1996 the Crown has

never consulted with the Claimants regarding the Settlement of their

claim or the unilateral decision of the Crown to mandate Ruanui to act on

behalf of Tangahoe.

8.2 The decision to negotiate with Ruanui ‘. . . subject to conditions de-

signed to protect . . . Tangahoe’ shows a lack of understanding of the dy-

namics of Maoridom in the Tangahoe rohe, or at worst is a perpetuation

of the abuse of Tangahoe by the Crown.

8.3 Ruanui are not recognised by the Claimants. The Claimants do not re-

cognise Ruanui’s claim to negotiate with the Crown on behalf of the indig-

enous people of South Taranaki. Tangahoe can only negotiate with the

Crown in its own right.

8.4 Ruanui have not consulted with the Claimants at any time before or af-

ter their executing the Heads of Agreement with the Crown, which agree-

ment purports to bind the Claimants and extinguish the Claimants indige-

nous and customary rights forever.
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9.0 Into the Future

9.1 Neither the Crown mandating of Ruanui or the Heads of Agreement

addresses either the basis of calculation of the so called settlement with

Ruanui nor the means by which Ruanui will deliver the settlement to the

indigenous people of South Taranaki.

9.2 As the Crown well knows, the losses sustained in South Taranaki by

virtue of the acts and omissions of the Crown are huge. They amount in

modern terms to a ågure in excess of $3 Billion. Ruanui state that they

have achieved a settlement of some $41 Million. They oäer no explanation

as to why they have accepted such a paltry sum. Tangahoe can only as-

sume that it is because they have lost no land.

9.3 Tangahoe accept that Ruanui is entitled to accept an amount for them-

selves, but that settlement, can not and will not, include or bind Tangahoe.

9.4 Furthermore the history in Taranaki of delivery of their entitlement

by Maori to Maori has over the years been very poor.

Tangahoe are determined to end the tradition of imprudent leadership

cronyism, bullying and indiäerent accountability which has plagued

south Taranaki for so long.

9.5 The Claimants have no faith that Ruanui will deliver long term bene-

åts in South Taranaki to indigenous, Tangahoe and Pakakohe people.

Crown Treaty Breaches

10.0 The Crown has failed to ensure that the principles of the Treaty of

Waitangi are adhered to and more particularly including the principle of

recognition. Tangahoe are entitled to identify themselves and to manage

their aäairs in accordance with Maori custom, values and proper business

practice.

11.0 Both the method and act of the Crown recognising the mandate of

Ruanui to the detriment of Tangahoe and the Crown’s omission to enter

into separate negotiations with Tangahoe is, a continuing breach of the

principles of the Treaty of Waitangi. Tangahoe is being subject to Muru

again.
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Prejudicial Effects

12.0 By virtue of the acts and omissions of the Crown in failing to recog-

nise Tangahoe in its own right around the settlement table, Tangahoe have

suäered and continue to suäer the following prejudicial eäects:

12.01 The continued dispossession of their economic, spiritual and cul-

tural base.

12.02 The continued loss of economic independence and prosperity.

12.03 The continued destruction of their culture and history.

12.04 The very real danger of losing their identity forever.

12.05 A continuation of the previous disenfranchisement suäered by

Tangahoe during the Taranaki wars of the 1860’s.

12.06 A further destruction or erosion of any chance of restoring

Tangahoe’s economic base, social patterns and traditional leadership

structures.

12.07 Continued poor health, welfare and education as a result or indirect

result of the Crown’s actions and omissions.

12.08 Loss of mana; loss of a future as fully participating New

Zealanders.

Relief Sought

13.0 The Claimants seek the following recommendations:

13.01 That the mandate of Ruanui to act for Tangahoe be revoked

immediately.

13.02 That the implementation of the Heads of Agreement cease forth-

with in so far as they purport to apply to Tangahoe and their hapu cease

immediately.

13.03 The Crown are directed to assist the claimants in preparing further

evidence to this Tribunal and fund such assistance.

13.04 That the Crown negotiate directly with Tangahoe for and on behalf

of Tangahoe.

13.05 A recommendation that the Crown pay the full costs of the Claim-

ants for the preparation and presentation of the Tangahoe claim.

13.06 Any other recommendation that the Tribunal thinks åt.
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Leave to Amend

14.0 The Claimants seek leave to amend this Statement of Claim in light

of research or other material which may become available during the pre-

sentation of this claim.

[Signed K A Horner] [18.4.2000]

Solicitor for the Claimant Date
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APPENDIX III. RECORD OF INQUIRY

RECORD OF HEARINGS

The Tribunal

The Tribunal constituted to hear claims Wai 758 and Wai 142, concerning

the Crown’s settlement negotiations with the Ngati Ruanui Muru me te

Raupatu Working Party, comprised Chief Judge Joseph Williams (presid-

ing), Roger Maaka, and Joanne Morris.

Counsel

The Wai 758 claimants were represented by John Upton qc with James

Johnston and Dorothy Benson; the Wai 142 claimants by Kenneth Horner;

the Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu Working Party by Chris Hall with

David Tapsell and Rachael Brown; and the Crown by Michael Doogan

with Rachael Ennor. The hearing was also attended by Charl Hirschfeld

for the Wai 419 claimants. He maintained a watching brief and did not

seek to lead evidence, although he did express his clients’ support for the

Wai 758 claim.

The Hearing

The claim was heard at the West Plaza Hotel in Wellington from 1 to 3 No-

vember 2000.

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS

1. Claims

1.1 Wai 758

A claim by Huia Rei Hayes on behalf of herself and Te Runanganui o te

Pakakohi Trust Incorporated concerning the mandate of the Ngati
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Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu Working Party and settlement negotiations

between the working party and the Crown, 3 November 1998

2. Papers in Proceedings

2.1 Direction of deputy chairperson registering claim 1.1 as Wai 758,

23 November 1998

2.2 List of parties sent notice of Wai 758, 8 December 1998

Declaration that notice of Wai 758 given, 8 December 1998

2.3 Submission of Wai 758 claimant counsel supporting application for ur-

gency, 25 February 1999

2.4 Aïdavit of Piki Parker supporting application for urgency, 23 Febru-

ary 1999

2.5 Submission of Crown counsel opposing application for urgency,

25 February 1999

2.6 Notice of adjournment of 25 February 1999 judicial conference to

8 March 1999, 3 March 1999

2.7 Facsimile from Wai 758 claimant counsel to registrar requesting ad-

journment of 8 March 1999 judicial conference, 4 March 1999

2.8 Direction of deputy chairperson adjourning 8 March 1999 judicial

conference to 29 March 1999, 4 March 1999

(a) Facsimile from Wai 758 claimant counsel to registrar requesting ad-

journment of 29 March 1999 judicial conference, 26 March 1999

2.9 Direction of deputy chairperson adjourning 29 March 1999 judicial

conference to 8 April 1999, 26 March 1999

2.10 Facsimile from Wai 758 claimant counsel to registrar requesting ad-

journment of 8 April 1999 judicial conference, 7 April 1999
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2.11 Direction of deputy chairperson adjourning 8 April 1999 judicial con-

ference to 21 April 1999, 8 April 1999

2.12 Submission of Wai 758 claimant counsel responding to paper 2.5,

21 April 1999

2.13 Aïdavit of Piki Parker supporting application for urgency, 21 April

1999

2.14 Facsimile from Wai 142 claimant counsel to registrar supporting Wai

758 claimants, 21 April 1999

2.15 Direction of deputy chairperson following 21 April 1999 judicial con-

ference declining application for urgency, 21 April 1999

2.16 Aïdavit of Piki Parker supporting application for urgency, 26 Octo-

ber 1999

2.17 Memorandum from chairperson to Crown and claimant counsel

seeking details of negotiations process between Crown and Wai 99 and

Wai 758 claimants, 2 December 1999

2.18 Memorandum from Crown counsel to registrar seeking extension of

time to respond to paper 2.17, 16 December 1999

2.19 Memorandum from Wai 758 claimant counsel to registrar objecting

to Crown request for extension (paper 2.18), 16 December 1999

2.20 Direction of deputy chairperson granting Crown request for exten-

sion (paper 2.18), 6 January 2000

2.21 Memorandum from Crown counsel to registrar responding to paper

2.17, 11 January 2000

2.22 Memorandum from Wai 758 claimant counsel to Tribunal respond-

ing to paper 2.21, 11 January 2000
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2.23 Direction of deputy chairperson arranging conference to consider

application for urgency for Wai 758 and Wai 142, 4 May 2000

2.24 Submission of Wai 758 claimant counsel supporting application for

urgency, 22 May 2000

2.25 Submission of Crown counsel concerning application for urgency

for Wai 758 and Wai 142, 22 May 2000

2.26 Memorandum from Crown counsel to Tribunal agreeing to Tribu-

nal-facilitated mediation, 23 May 2000

2.27 Direction of deputy chairperson appointing mediator for Wai 758

and Wai 142, 26 May 2000

2.28 Direction of deputy chairperson extending mediation period,

15 June 2000

2.29 Direction of deputy chairperson adjourning application for urgen-

cy, 26 July 2000

2.30 Memorandum from Crown counsel to Tribunal concerning Crown

negotiations with Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu Working Party,

14 September 2000

2.31 Letter from registrar to Crown counsel seeking timeframe for execu-

tion of deed of settlement between Ngati Ruanui and Crown, 28 Septem-

ber 2000

2.32 Facsimile from Crown counsel to registrar responding to paper 2.31,

2 October 2000

2.33 Printout of e-mail from counsel for Ngati Ruanui Muru me te

Raupatu Working Party to Tribunal seeking watching brief in respect of

Wai 796 proceedings, 9 October 2000

(a) Direction of deputy chairperson and Joanne Morris granting counsel

for Wai 99, Wai 201, and Wai 506 claimants and counsel for Ngati Ruanui
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Muru me te Raupatu Working Party leave for watching brief in respect of

Wai 796 proceedings, 13 October 2000

2.34 Memorandum from Wai 758, Wai 99, and Wai 142 claimant counsel

to Tribunal applying for urgency, 16 October 2000

2.35 Memorandum from Crown counsel to Tribunal responding to paper

2.34, 20 October 2000

(a) Brief of evidence of Andrew Hampton, 24 October 2000

2.36 Memorandum from counsel for Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu

Working Party to Tribunal responding to paper 2.34, 20 October 2000

2.37 Direction of deputy chairperson constituting Tribunal to hear Wai

758 and Wai 142 and scheduling hearing, 26 October 2000

2.38 Notice of hearing, 26 October 2000

2.39 Précis of issues for Wai 758 and Wai 142 claimants, 27 October 2000

2.40 Memorandum from Crown counsel to Tribunal responding to pa-

per 2.39, 30 October 2000

2.41 Letter from Martin Edwards to Tribunal concerning mandate of

Ngati Ruanui, 6 November 2000

2.42 Memorandum from counsel for Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu

Working Party to Tribunal responding to material åled by Wai 142 claim-

ants, 6 November 2000

2.43 Facsimile from Hori Manuirirangi to Tribunal concerning intended

signing of deed of settlement between Ngati Ruanui and Crown, 5 Novem-

ber 2000

2.44 Memorandum from Wai 758 claimant counsel to Tribunal concern-

ing special leave granted Wai 142 claimant counsel to åle additional

evidence, 6 November 2000
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2.45 Memorandum from counsel for Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu

Working Party to Tribunal concerning additional material on record of in-

quiry, 8 November 2000

RECORD OF DOCUMENTS

a Documents Received to End of Hearing

a1 Maori Law Review, February 1999, pp2–3

a2 ‘Heads of Agreement for a Proposed Settlement of the Ngaati Ruanui

Historical Claims against the Crown’, unsigned copy, undated

a3 Taranaki Muru me te Raupatu Coordination Team, ‘Report on the

Readiness of the Iwi of Taranaki to Negotiate a Settlement of the Taranaki

Land Claim’, report commissioned by the Waitangi Tribunal, April 1996

a4 Waitangi Tribunal, Taranaki Report: Kaupapa Tuatahi, Wellington,

GP Publications, 1996, pp315–316

a5 Aïdavit of Rita Bublitz, 30 October 2000

(a) Supporting documents to document a5

a6 Aïdavit of Waveney Stephens, 30 October 2000

(a) Supporting documents to document a6

a7 Aïdavit of Betty Houston, 30 October 2000

(a) Supporting documents to document a7

a8 Aïdavit of Te Huirangi Waikerepuru and supporting documents,

30 October 2000

a9 Submission of Wai 758 claimant counsel concerning mandate of Ngati

Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu Working Party, 30 October 2000

a10 Aïdavit of Piki Parker, 30 October 2000
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a11 Aïdavit of Rongo Kahukuranui, 30 October 2000

a12 Aïdavit of Dr Bryan Gilling, 30 October 2000

a13 Supporting documents for Pakakohi Inc, two volumes:

Volume 1: subdocuments (1)–(51)

Volume 2: subdocuments (51)–(91)

a14 Document entitled ‘Synopsis of Submissions on Behalf of the Ngati

Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu Working Party’, 30 October 2000

a15 Document entitled ‘Response of Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu

Working Party to Précis of Issues of Claimants – Wai 758 and Wai 142’,

30 October 2000

a16 Document entitled ‘Crown Documents in Support of Urgent Hear-

ing for Wai 758 and Wai 142 Mandate Issues’, 1 November 2000

(a) Letter from director, Oïce of Treaty Settlements, to Minister in

Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations concerning Ngati Ruanui,

Tangahoe, and Pakakohi, 21 August 1997

(b) Letter from Minister in Charge of Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations to

Huirangi Waikerepuru concerning deed of mandate of Ngati Ruanui

Muru me te Raupatu Working Party, 22 August 1997

a17 Submission of Martin Edwards concerning mandate of Ngati Ruanui

Muru me te Raupatu Working Party, 30 October 2000

a18 Minutes of three Pakakohi mandate meetings, 23 March 1997, 17 May

1997, 1 November 1997

a19 Assorted correspondence sent to Herewini Te Koha, Oïce of Treaty

Settlements, concerning mandate of Ngati Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu

Working Party, various dates in October and November 1997

a20 Declaration of mandate for Te Iwi o Tangahoe Inc, 9 April 1998

(a) Alphabetical list of names
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a21 Document entitled ‘Chronology of Crown Assessment of Working

Party Mandate’, undated

a22 Te Puni Kokiri, ‘Risk Analysis: Ngati Ruanui Mandate to Negotiate

Settlement of Treaty Claim’, unpublished report, 22 December 1997

Covering letter from branch manager, Treaty Compliance, Te Puni Kokiri,

to director, Oïce of Treaty Settlements, 22 December 1997

(a) Draft of document a22 with handwritten amendments showing later

changes made, undated

a23 Document by Andrew Hampton, manager, Oïce of Treaty Settle-

ments, entitled ‘Oïce of Treaty Settlements Preliminary Response to

Claimant Evidence’, 31 October 2000

a24 Document by Hauraki Greenland, policy manager, Te Puni Kokiri,

entitled ‘Waitangi Tribunal Hearing: Tangahoe and Pakakohi: Te Puni

Kokiri Preliminary Response to Claimant Evidence’, undated

a25 Table entitled ‘Nga Hapu o Ngatiruanui’ undated

a26 List entitled ‘Current Working Party Members’, undated

a27 List entitled ‘List of Attendance 1st November 1997 Te Pakakohi Hui’,

1 November 1997

a28 Untitled list of names and personal details, undated

b Documents Received after Hearing

b1 Submission of Aroha Houston concerning motions passed at

Wharepuni Marae annual general meeting, 6 November 2000

(a) Copies of three public notices of Wharepuni Marae Trustees annual

general meeting (28 September 2000, 28 September 2000, 12 October

2000) and one notice of nomination and declaration of result of election

of Wharepuni Marae trustee (2 November 2000)
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b2 Submission of Aroha Houston concerning Ngati Ruanui Muru me te

Raupatu Working Party submissions, undated

(a) Supporting documents to document b2

b3 Submission of Rita Bublitz concerning register of people identifying

with Tangahoe, 6 November 2000

(a) Supporting documents to document b3

b4 Submission of Hori Manuirirangi concerning Crown and Ngati

Ruanui Muru me te Raupatu Working Party settlement negotiations, 5 No-

vember 2000

b5 Five ‘person proåles’ and covering letter from Andrea Ward-Williams

to Chief Judge Williams, Maori Land Court, 6 November 2000
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